# Stable knock-in of duck RIG-I into DF-1 chicken cells via CRISPR/Cas9 homology directed repair

by

Eric Raymond Friesen

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Biological Sciences University of Alberta

© Eric Raymond Friesen, 2020

#### Abstract

Chickens and ducks differ in their susceptibility to avian influenza virus infection. Ducks are the primordial hosts and reservoir of avian influenza A viruses. Mallard ducks can asymptomatically harbour high-pathogenicity avian influenza (HPAI) and lowpathogenicity avian influenza (LPAI). Chickens, however, succumb to HPAI infection and die within 1-2 days. Ducks possess the innate immune RNA sensor retinoic acidinducible gene I (RIG-I), whereas chickens do not. The lack of this key receptor is likely a major factor in the pronounced susceptibility of chickens to influenza A viruses. Here we insert the duck RIG-I gene into the chicken genome, using a CRISPR/Cas 9 approach in the chicken fibroblast cell line, DF-1. For a knock-in locus we chose a region on the chicken Z chromosome, homologous to where RIG-I is found in ducks. To achieve the desired knock-in we used a two-plasmid system. Firstly, a commercial cas9 expression plasmid was modified for use in avian cells. A homology directed repair plasmid was constructed to supply a knock-in template, consisting of duck RIG-I under the control of its own promoter and GFP under the control of the hCMV promoter. DF-1 cells were cotransfected with both plasmids, and successful transfectants were sorted via FACS. Sorted cells then underwent a negative selection process utilizing the human HSV thymidine kinase/ganciclovir inducible suicide gene system to kill cells with off-target knock-ins expressing HSV thymidine kinase. Genomic DNA was harvested from successfully selected cells and each resultant cell line was characterized by genomic PCR, rtPCR, and qPCR for the expression of duck RIG-I.

All cell lines recovered showed transgenic duck RIG-I and HSV thymidine kinase in genomic DNA suggesting a knock-in had occurred. However, no expression of duck

ii

RIG-I or HSV thymidine kinase was observed by rtPCR or qPCR, and expression of GFP was silenced after ~7 days post transfection. We therefore cannot conclude whether the knock-in of duck RIG-I was on target. Despite the lack of transgene expression our work is a proof of the principle that large fragments of foreign DNA comprised of multiple protein coding genes each with a different promoter can be transfected into DF-1 cells. The production of a transgenic chicken cell line expressing duck RIG-I has the potential to be a vital tool in researching innate immunity in birds.

## Preface

The experiments and data used to create Figure 3.8 were performed by Jordyn Pelechaty, an undergraduate student under my supervision.

The 500bp duck RIG-I promoter was obtained from Dr Yanna Xiao as published in Xiao, Y., Reeves, M.B., Caulfield, A.F., Evseev, D., and Magor, K.E. (2018). "The core promoter controls basal and inducible expression of duck retinoic acid inducible gene-I (RIG-I)." Mol. Immunol. 103: 156-165.

The duck RIG-I mRNA coding sequence was obtained from Megan Barber as published in Barber, M. R. W., Aldridge, J. R., Webster, R. G. and Magor, K. E. (2010) "Association of RIG-I with innate immunity of ducks to influenza." Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107: 5913–5918.

This thesis is an original work by Eric Friesen.

## Dedication

I dedicate this work to my mother Dorothy and my father Don, who instilled in me a love and curiosity for the natural world and gave me the bravery to pursue knowledge of it.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr Katharine Magor for her supervision, mentoring, support and guidance throughout this work. Thank you for giving me the opportunity and freedom to sink my teeth into a complex and enthralling project. Thank you for providing the space, equipment, and environment that allowed me to learn about and take a crack at genetic engineering. Without your willingness to gamble on myself and this project I would not have been able to learn and grow as a scientist and person as much as I have, thank you Kathy.

I would like to thank my committee members Dr James Stafford and Dr David Evans for your fantastic advice, guidance, and perspective throughout this project. Your willingness to field questions, provide avenues of investigation, and share your knowledge helped me to navigate difficult experimental waters.

I would like to thank all the members of the K Magor research lab. Without all of you I would not have made it. Your compassion, humour, guidance, help, and welcome distractions made this the most memorable and fulfilling thing I have done. Thank you, Ximena and Deb, for being a wealth of information, techniques, and kindness. Thank you, Lee and Janet, for your perspectives and support. Thank you, Michelle, Adam, and Dexter, for your friendship and camaraderie. Thank you, Yanna, for your friendship, help, and the contribution of the promoter. Thank you, Danyel, for your patience, tutelage, and friendship; your advice, suggestions, and perspectives were invaluable.

vi

I would like to thank the facilities at the University of Alberta for their help and guidance in my work. Thank you to Troy, Anthony, and Cheryl of the MBSU for your help with sequencing, assays, and advice for dealing with difficult cloning. Thank you to Joaquín of the Flow Cytometry core for helping me with FACS and flow cytometry.

I would like to thank the various funding agencies and organizations for allowing me to complete this work, The Li Ka Shing Institute for Virology, FGSR, Department of Biological sciences, CHIR, and Government of Alberta.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their total and unwavering support, and my dog Keesha for her loyal companionship.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Dedication	V
Acknowledgements .	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xii
List of Abbreviations	xiv
Chapter 1 Introductio	on and review of literature1
1.1 A brief int	troduction to Influenza A viruses1
1.2 The reserv	voir host of influenza viruses and innate antiviral immunity2
1.2.1	Toll-like receptors
1.2.2	NOD-like receptors
1.3 Inflammat	tion, cytokines, and the dangers of antiviral signalling5
1.4 RLRs and	RIG-I
1.4.1	RIG-I
1.4.2	MDA5
1.4.3	LGP2
1.4.4	The RIG-I signalling pathway in brief13
1.4.5	Additional functions of RIG-I15

	1.4.5.1 RIG-I and flaviviruses	15
	1.4.5.2 RIG-I and cancer	16
	1.4.5.3 RIG-I and T-Cells	17
	1.4.5.4 RIG-I can bind incoming viral nucleocapsids	18
	1.4.6 A brief evolutionary context of RIG-I and RIG-I loss in chickens	18
	1.5 Chicken innate immunity and the consequences of a lack of RIG-I	21
	1.6 A brief introduction to CRISPR/Cas9	22
	1.7 Herpes Simplex 1 Thymidine Kinase and inducible suicide genes	24
	1.8 CRISPR in domestic chickens	26
	1.8.1 CRISPR in a chicken system	26
	1.8.2 Recent publications and interest in CRISPR knock-ins in chickens	27
	1.9 A brief look at CRISPR modification of cell lines	28
	1.10 Thesis Project Aims	31
2	Materials and Methods	33
	2.1 Plasmid propagation	33
	2.2 DNA isolations and HDR plasmid construction	33
	2.3 dRIG-I promoter reporter vector construction	34
	2.4 Cell culture	34
	2.5 Cell transfection	34
	2.6 Confocal microscopy	34
	2.7 Fluorescence activated cell sorting and negative selection	35
	2.8 Cell screening	35
	2.9 Western blot	36

	2.10 HSV TK/GCV cell death assay
	2.11 RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, rtPCR and qPCR
3	Results
	3.1 Identification of a target locus for the knock-in of duck RIG-I43
	3.2 Plasmid design and construction46
	3.2.1 HDR template plasmid design rationale46
	3.2.2 HDR template and Cas9 expression plasmid construction47
	3.2.3 Modifying eSpCas9(1.1) for use in an avian model
	3.3 Transient plasmid transfections
	3.3.1 HDR template plasmid transient transfection shows plasmid uptake and
	GFP expression in wild-type DF-1 cells53
	3.3.2 Activation dependent expression of 500bp duck RIG-I promoter in
	transiently transfected DF-1 cells54
	3.3.3 Transient eSpCas9(1.1) plasmid transfection shows expression of Cas9
	protein in wild-type DF-1cells56
	3.4 Fluorescence activated cell sorting and collection of GFP positive cells from DF-1
	cells transfected with both HDR and avian eSpCas9(1.1)57
	3.5 PCR of isolated clonal cell lines reveals exogenous DNA
	3.6 rtPCR and qPCR of transgene expression in CRISPR cell lines
	3.7 HSV TK and ganciclovir in DF-1 cell death assay62
4	Discussion
5	Conclusions and future directions72
Re	eferences

# List of Tables

Table 2.1 List of primers used for PCR amplification of DNA fragments 38
Table 2.2 List of primers used for overlap extension PCR splicing of DNA fragments
Table 2.3 List of primers used for Sanger sequencing reactions of each of the HDR template,
Avian adapted eSpCas9(1.1), and dRIG-I-mCherry pcDNA plasmids40
Table 2.4 List of primers used to attach regions of complementarity by PCR for Gibson
assembly42
Table 2.5 Summary of primers and probe sequences used for qPCR amplification of chicken Mx-
1, chicken GAPDH, and duck RIG-I42
Table 3.1 qPCR quantitation values (triplicate) for chicken GAPDH, duck RIG-I, and chicken
Mx-1 amplified from cDNA synthesized from total cellular
mRNA61

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic of CRISPR/Cas9 two-plasmid mediated homology directed repair24
Figure 3.1 Schematic map of genes surrounding the <i>DDX58</i> locus
Figure 3.2 Schematic map of HDR template plasmid
Figure 3.3 Schematic map of Cas9 and sgRNA expression plasmid51
Figure 3.4 Schematic map and sequence of duck RIG-I knock-in sgRNA and sgRNA scaffold52
Figure 3.5 Sequence alignment of wild type hCMV enhancer/promoter and dRIG-I HDR
template shows a 203bp truncation of hCMV enhancer
Figure 3.6 DF-1 cells transiently transfected with HDR template plasmid show expression of
eGFP
Figure 3.7 Schematic map of mCherry/duck RIG-I promoter expression plasmid54
Figure 3.8 DF-1 cells transiently transfected with duck RIG-I promoter reporter plasmid show
expression of mCherry55
Figure 3.9 Wild type DF-1 cells transiently transfected with avian adapted eSpCas9(1.1) show
expression of Cas9 protein
Figure 3.10 DF-1 cells transfected with both HDR and Cas9 plasmids display GFP expression
while cells transfected with Cas9 plasmid alone do not
Figure 3.11 Isolated clonal cell lines show presence of chicken duck RIG-I (A), HSV TK (B) and
chicken GAPDH (C) in genomic DNA via PCR60

Figure 3.12 DF-1 cells transfected with HDR template plasmid appear more	sensitive to
ganciclovir than CRISPR modified DF-1, or wild type DF-1 cells	63

# **List of Abbreviations**

ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
bp	Base Pair
CARD	Caspase Activation and Recruitment Domain
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CRISPR	Clusters of Regularly Interspaced Palindromic Repeats
Cas9	CRISPR Associated protein
CTD	C- Terminal Domain
DAMPs	Damage Associated Molecular Patterns
DF-1	Douglas Foster 1 – Chicken Embryonic Fibroblast cell line
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSB	Double Stranded Break
dsDNA	Double Stranded DNA
dsRNA	Double Stranded RNA
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
GCV	Ganciclovir
GFP	Green Fluorescence Protein
GOI	Gene Of Interest
НА	Hemagglutinin
HBV	Hepatitis B Virus
НСС	Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells
hCMV	Human Cytomegalovirus

HDR	Homology Directed Repair	
HPAI	Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza	
HSV	Herpes Simplex Virus	
IAV	Influenza A Virus	
Indels	Insertions/deletions	
ISG	Interferon Stimulated Gene	
IFN	Interferon	
kb	Kilobase	
LGP2	Laboratory of Genetics and Physiology 2	
LPAI	Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza	
LRR	Leucine Rich Repeat	
MAVS	Mitochondrial Antiviral Signalling Protein	
MDA5	Melanoma Differentiation Associated protein 5	
mRNA	Messenger RNA	
NA	Neuraminidase	
NHEJ	Non-Homologous End Joining	
NLR	NOD-Like Receptor	
NLRP3	NLR family Pyrin domain containing 3	
NOD2	Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain-containing protein 2	
nt	Nucleotide	
PAMPs	Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns	
PBMCs	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells	
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction	

PGC	Primordial Germ Cell
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
qPCR	Quantitative PCR
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-Inducible Gene I
RLR	RIG-I-Like Receptor
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
rtPCR	Reverse Transcriptase PCR
ssRNA	Single-Stranded RNA
sgRNA	Small Guide RNA
ТК	Thymidine Kinase
TLR	Toll-Like Receptor
UTR	Untranslated Region
vRNA	Viral RNA
vRNP	Viral Ribonuclear Protein

### **Chapter 1 Introduction and Review of Literature.**

#### **1.1** A brief introduction to Influenza A viruses.

Influenza A viruses (IAV) are one of five genera that make up the Orthomyxoviridae family of viruses<sup>1</sup>. The IAV genome is divided into eight distinct segments composed of antisense single stranded ribonucleic acid (RNA) that encode 10-13 proteins of varying function<sup>2,3,4</sup> with additional accessory proteins dependent on strain<sup>5</sup>. Of these 10-13 proteins, two surface glycoproteins, hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) comprise the major sites of antigenic recognition in an infected host. Both HA and NA have different isoforms in nature. There are currently 18 HA and 11 NA subtypes known<sup>6</sup>. H1-H16 and N1-N9 are found in wild birds, while H17N10 and H18N11 have more recently been identified in wild bats<sup>7,8</sup>. Differences in the isoforms of these antigenic glycoproteins are the basis for IAV classifications. The differences in HA and NA between viral subtypes allow for transmission and infection of different species, however almost all known virus subtypes circulate in wild aquatic birds<sup>2</sup>. IAV primarily affects mammals and birds, however recent evidence may suggest that amphibians can also host IAV<sup>9</sup>. Species that regularly interact with humans are of particular interest when studying IAV, as transmission between humans and domesticated or agricultural animals can often result in epidemic or pandemic outbreaks of influenza<sup>10,11,12</sup>. Along with differential hosts and patterns of transmission, different viral subtypes often diverge in the pathogenicity and severity of symptoms observed in infected hosts<sup>2</sup>. H5 and H7 viral subtypes are of particular concern as these are the two subtypes that can lead to infections resulting in high mortality rates of infected hosts, including humans, but especially high mortality rates in birds<sup>2,3,13</sup>.

Although each subtype of IAV has different combinations of HA and NA isoforms, all eight segments of viral RNA (vRNA) contain complementary sequences of 12-13 nucleotides (nt) at their 3' and 5' ends which allow for the formation of a panhandle secondary structure<sup>14</sup>. The function of this RNA panhandle is to act as a promoter region for transcription of viral mRNA and replication of complementary vRNA<sup>12,15,16</sup>. These processes are necessary for the function of the viral "life cycle" and are therefore conserved structures in all viral subtypes. Furthermore, the conserved nature of the panhandle structure provides an ideal target for host immune defenses to recognize<sup>13,14,17</sup>.

#### **1.2** The reservoir host of influenza viruses and innate antiviral immunity.

Mallard ducks (*Anas platyrhynchos*) and other aquatic birds are the reservoir host to nearly all known circulating influenza strains<sup>2</sup>. Ducks are known to harbour 16 of all 18 HA subtypes and 9 of all 11 NA subtypes<sup>2,3,5</sup>. They can carry one, or a combination of different strains of IAV with little to no associated pathologies or illnesses<sup>2</sup>. However, if viral load becomes too high, or a particularly virulent strain of IAV is present, ducks can succumb to IAV infection<sup>18,19</sup>. The ability of ducks to asymptomatically harbour IAV, and their nature as migratory birds as well as agricultural stocks has allowed them to become major vectors for the transmission of many IAV strains to both humans and other agricultural livestock and this ability to transmit has earned them the nickname "Trojan horses" of influenza<sup>18</sup>.

Avian influenza viruses are generally split into two categories, highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) and low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI)<sup>2</sup>. The HPAI classification is based on the ability of certain viral subtypes (H5, H7) to cause lethal

plague-like infections in chickens, while LPAI encompasses all other virulent subtypes that tend not to cause plague-like infections<sup>2</sup>. The exact mechanism, or combination of mechanisms, that allow ducks to harbour both HPAI and LPAI remain elusive.

#### **1.2.1** Toll-like receptors.

Toll-like receptors are one of the three key families of innate immune pattern recognition receptors. Toll-like receptors are an ancient family of innate immune sensors. TLRs are present in a wide variety of organisms from the fruit fly in which they were discovered, to modern humans<sup>20</sup>. The TLR family of receptors recognize a vast array of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) from nearly all pathogenic organisms including viruses, bacteria, fungus, and eukaryotes<sup>20</sup>. TLRs are well established as initiators of both the innate and adaptive immune responses in most eukaryotes<sup>20,21</sup>. In ducks TLRs play a central role in the detection of pathogens<sup>22,23</sup>. In most vertebrates TLR7 and TLR 8 both recognize single stranded RNA (ssRNA) while TLR 3 recognizes double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), however TLR 8 is absent in ducks and chickens<sup>24,25</sup>. TLR7/8 are involved in detection of ssRNA viruses, including IAV, as they are endosomal resident PRRs and detect viral RNA after infection <sup>23,25</sup>. Both TRL7/8 signal through the adapter protein MyD88 which activates the NF- $\kappa$ B complex<sup>26,27,28</sup>. NF- $\kappa$ B is a ubiquitously expressed transcription factor that upregulates the production of inflammatory cytokines and upregulates interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) which function as innate and adaptive immune modulators of antiviral defences<sup>20,29</sup>. Some ISGs induced by the NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factor include *Mx-1* which inhibits viral transcription<sup>30</sup>, *TRIM25* which activates retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) via ubiquitination<sup>31</sup>, and *IRF7* which stimulates further ISGs including type I interferons

(IFNs)<sup>32</sup>. Expression of these ISGs can also be induced through IRF signalling initiated by the RIG-I signalling pathway<sup>93</sup>.

#### **1.2.2** NOD-like receptors.

NOD-like receptors are the second crucial family of innate immune pattern recognition receptors. In addition to TLRs, the NOD-like receptor family of proteins are important players in innate antiviral defences<sup>33</sup>. Although NLRs are important in antiviral signalling and initiation of host inflammasome complexes, they can recognize a diverse array of PAMPs including bacterial flagellin, viral RNA, and fungal hyphae<sup>34,35,36</sup>. In addition to PAMPs, NLRs can also detect damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) produced by host cells in response to pathogen mediated or mechanical damage<sup>37</sup>. They can also trigger inflammation by the detection of environmental threats such as inorganic nanoparticles<sup>38</sup>. Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2) is a member of the NLR family. NOD2 has yet to be reported in the genome of Anas platyrhynchos or other species of duck, or in chickens<sup>39</sup>. NOD2 has been well characterized in mammals and has been shown to play an important role in innate immune signalling<sup>33,40</sup>. NOD2 is comprised of a C-terminal leucine rich repeat (LRR) domain, a central ATPase domain, and twin N-terminal CARD domains that function in signal transduction<sup>33,41</sup>. NOD2 is able to recognize and bind viral ssRNA through its LRR domain and activate IRF3 and IFN- $\beta$  defences<sup>33,42</sup>. NOD2 does not directly signal the activation of type I interferons, but uses the adapter mitochondrial antiviral signalling protein (MAVS) to activate the NF- $\kappa$ B signalling pathway<sup>42</sup>. The tandem activation of both IRF3 and NF-kB by NOD2 allows for optimal production of a type I interferon response.

The most versatile NLR capable of detection of viral infection and initiation of host defences is NLR family pyrin domain containing protein 3 (NLRP3)<sup>43</sup>. There are two signals required for NLRP3 activation, an initial priming signal that upregulates NLRP3 production; and a second triggering signal that initiates inflammasome formation and release of cytokines<sup>43,44,38</sup>. The exact mechanism by which NLRP3 detects IAV remains unclear, however it has been shown that NLRP3 can be activated by M2, an IAV proton specific ion channel<sup>45</sup>. M2 is required for both acidification of virions as well as neutralization of the host cell *trans*-Golgi network during influenza infection<sup>46</sup>. The NLRP3 inflammasome can also be activated by the viral protein PB1-F2<sup>47</sup>. PB1-F2 is a non-structural protein identified as a virulence factor which disrupts mitochondrial function leading to cell death in infected cells<sup>48</sup>. In addition to detecting viral protein, NLRP3 can be activated by the detection of viral RNA<sup>49</sup>. In general, the activation of NLRP3 through viral RNA or viral protein both serve to initiate formation of the inflammasome complex and begin the process of inflammation to help defend against IAV infection.

#### **1.3** Inflammation, cytokines, and the dangers of antiviral signalling.

Broadly speaking there are two kinds of inflammation, acute inflammation and chronic inflammation<sup>50</sup>. Acute inflammation is a process that is not specific to any one kind of insult or injury<sup>51</sup>. Rather it can be initiated through pathogen infection, mechanical injury, chemical exposure, or through inter/intra-cellular interactions<sup>50</sup>. Acute inflammation is characterized by increased vascular permeability facilitating increased movement of neutrophils, macrophages, and other peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and granulocytes to sites of insult or injury<sup>52</sup>. These cells then fulfill a dual

purpose, they seek out and destroy any invading pathogens they can recognize, and they release cytokines to signal surrounding cells and tissues of the perceived threat<sup>52</sup>. In addition to leakage of cellular components from circulation, plasma components including complement molecules, cytokines, and antibodies are also introduced into the site of insult, all with diverse protective functions<sup>52</sup>.

At the molecular level acute inflammation usually involves a rapid and marked increase in cytokines and signalling molecules both in the extracellular milieu and within affected cells<sup>52,53</sup>. The combined effect of inflammation at the tissue, cell, and molecular level can sometimes be of detriment to the host. An excessive production of immune signalling cytokines and prolonged inflammation is thought to be a significant contributing factor to influenza morbidity in a wide range of susceptible species<sup>54,55,56</sup>.

In the case of influenza and avian species, inflammation manifests differently between ducks and chickens depending on whether they are exposed to HPAI or LPAI<sup>56</sup>. Briefly, when ducks are infected with LPAI, weak immune gene upregulation, some inflammation, and minimal tissue damage is observed. Of the tissues affected, inflammation has been noted, although variably, in the lung, spleen, heart, and brain of most individuals; though the extent of inflammation and therefore tissue damage varies with species, viral strain, and individual genetics<sup>57,58</sup>. Ducks infected with HPAI can have a range of outcomes depending on the exact species of duck, and the exact strain of virus in each given infection<sup>58,57</sup>. Generally, ducks can survive and recover from HPAI infection though studies have shown they are not entirely impervious to IAV<sup>57</sup>.

Chickens infected with HPAI display a more severe set of symptoms than ducks do. Briefly, chickens infected with HPAI typically die with 24 hours to 3 days post

infection<sup>59</sup>. Symptoms of HPAI viral infection can include: discolouration and sheen, change of visceral organs, haemorrhage and inflammation of perivascular blood vessels, myocarditis, necrosis and inflammation of the lung, liver, pancreas, and adrenal gland, depletion of splenic lymphocytes, thymic atrophy, necrosis and inflammation of skin, and necrosis and meningoencephalitis of the central nervous system<sup>60</sup>, any number of which can be lethal.

Chickens infected with LPAI still display symptoms more prominently than ducks but to a lesser degree than when infected with HPAI. Briefly, when infected with LPAI chickens can display: congestion and infiltration of tracheal leukocytes, infiltration and congestion of pulmonary leukocytes followed by lesions in the lungs, swelling of kidney tubules and glomeruli, loss of body weight, decrease in egg production, bronchitis, tracheitis, sinusitis, proventricular haemorrhage, and secondary infections such as pneumonia<sup>61,62</sup>. The various symptoms of swelling, oedema, leukocyte infiltration, and necrosis can in large part be attributed to overly active inflammatory responses to viral infection<sup>63</sup>. Immune responses that are detrimental to the host such as these are referred to as cytokine storms, in which dysregulated immune responses culminate in increased morbidity from infection<sup>64</sup>. Innate immune signalling is therefore of chief importance in examining IAV and its associated effects on chickens and ducks. Of note in the difference in innate signalling between ducks and chickens is the RLR family of receptors.

#### 1.4 RLRs and RIG-I.

Ducks employ a comprehensive suite of innate immune defences to address infection by IAV, chief among which is the RIG-I like receptor family (RLRs), in addition to TLRs and NLRs. The third class of innate immune PRRs found in ducks is the RLRs family, named for retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) a key ssRNA sensor involved in anti-IAV signalling. The RLR family of PRRs is composed of three proteins, LGP2, MDA5, and RIG-I.

#### 1.4.1 RIG-I.

Retinoic acid inducible gene I is an innate immune sensor of 5'ppp-ssRNA and the namesake receptor of the RLR family of proteins. The RIG-I protein consists of three domains, a C-terminal repressor domain (CTD), a central RNA-binding DExD/H box helicase domain and a pair of N-terminal tandem caspase activation and recruitment (CARD) domains<sup>65</sup>. Human and duck RIG-I share protein similarity, in humans RIG-I is 925 residues and a size of 106.62 kDa<sup>66</sup>, and in ducks RIG-I is 933 residues and a predicted size of 106.60 kDa<sup>67</sup>. The CTD is involved in the recognition of both 5'OH-RNA and 5'-pppRNA, however the binding efficiency to 5'OH is significantly less than 5'-ppp<sup>68</sup>. Furthermore, it has been shown that the CTD of RIG-I is able to recognize a diverse range of substrates<sup>68,69,70,71</sup>. The binding of dsRNA, ssRNA, blunt-end RNA, OH-RNA, dsDNA, and ppp-RNA by the CTD of RIG-I explains in part the central role of RIG-I as critical receptor in the detection of not only IAVs but a wide range of viral pathogens. It has also been noted that the terminal modifications of RNA themselves are not the sole requirement for CTD binding or activation and that a "panhandle" structure is necessary for full activation of RIG-I<sup>70</sup>. Panhandle structures of viral genomes generally arise from 12 and 13 nucleotide complementarities between the 3' and 5' ends of viral RNA resulting in the formation of a bulged panhandle structure<sup>72</sup>. This panhandle structure serves as a promoter for the initiation of viral RNA transcription<sup>73</sup>. The conservation and critical function of this panhandle makes for an ideal target for recognition by PRRs. More recent work has shown that recognition of the panhandle structure of influenza is indeed necessary for the full activation of RIG-I and induction of interferons as an antiviral defence<sup>74</sup>.

RIG-I is a predominantly cytosolic receptor that is maintained at low levels of basal expression and upregulated when viral infection is detected<sup>76</sup>. The promoter and transcription binding sites of duck RIG-I have been recently characterized and suggest that RIG-I is upregulated via a positive-feedback loop<sup>75</sup>. The activation of transcription factors that modulate RIG-I is achieved by the earlier activation of RIG-I itself as well as by type I IFNs stimulated through MDA5 and MAVS signalling.

Recently it has been shown in human cells that a pool of RIG-I is maintained in the nucleus of host cells to detect viral RNA transcripts and viral ribonucleoproteins (vRNP) prior to their exiting the nucleus<sup>76</sup>. This nuclear pool of RIG-I appears to detect invading virus independently of the cytosolic receptor but works in concert with the cytosolic pool to contribute to a stronger induced antiviral signalling cascade<sup>76</sup>. Whether the two pools of RIG-I are a result of translocation of proteins between cellular compartments, or both are independently maintained sentinels remains unclear<sup>76</sup>. In either case the combined function of nuclear and cytoplasmic RIG-I detection of vRNA and

vRNP appears to allow for the detection of viral infection at multiple timepoints during infection.

In avian species RIG-I is thought to be activated and function in much the same way as it does in mammals. In ducks, RIG-I is upregulated following infection by both HPAI and LPAI<sup>67,77</sup>. It has also been shown that duck RIG-I can respond to infection by live virus as well as synthetic viral ligands<sup>67,77</sup>. Duck RIG-I has been shown to upregulate downstream effector genes similar to those genes upregulated by RIG-I in mice infected with RNA viruses<sup>78,79</sup>. The functional antiviral signalling of duck RIG-I has been reported in multiple species, mallard (*Anas platyrhynchos*)<sup>67</sup>, and in Muscovy duck (*Cairina moschata*)<sup>80</sup>. Chickens, which lack RIG-I, have been shown to lack an IFN response to 5'-pppRNA, while initiating an IFN response to poly (I:C) suggesting that while they cannot signal through RIG-I they can signal through MDA5<sup>67</sup>. Furthermore, chicken cells made to express duck RIG-I have demonstrated an ability to signal through RIG-I similar to that observed in ducks<sup>67</sup>.

#### 1.4.2 MDA5.

The second RLR involved in innate antiviral signalling is MDA5 (melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5). MDA5 is a DExD/H box helicase protein composed of 3 domains, a C-terminal domain and DEAD box helicase domain, however MDA5 CTD does not appear to recognize ssRNA and binds only dsRNA<sup>81,82</sup>. The third domain is a tandem caspase activation and recruitment domain<sup>82</sup>. The CARD of MDA5 shares a similar function to most CARDs and facilitates protein-protein interactions required for protein activation or signalling cascades<sup>82</sup>.

The helicase of MDA5 not only preferentially recognizes dsRNA over ssRNA or 5'ppp-ssRNA but it preferentially recognizes and binds dsRNA of a particular length<sup>83</sup>. MDA5 differentiates the length of invading dsRNA by binding to dsRNA and cooperatively forming MDA5 filaments<sup>84</sup>. The formation of MDA5 filaments along dsRNA is important for the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) hydrolysis function of MDA5, and further ATP hydrolysis impacts the stability and continuity of bound MDA5/dsRNA filaments<sup>84</sup>. ATP hydrolysis leads to efficient assembly and slower disassembly of MDA5/dsRNA filaments which may allow for more signalling interactions than MDA5/dsRNA filaments that rapidly dissociate<sup>84</sup>. The impact of length of dsRNA on MDA5 filament formation and ATP hydrolysis is a likely explanation for the property of dsRNA length dependent signalling of MDA5<sup>84</sup>. The formation of MDA5 filaments is also important for signal transduction. The oligomerization of MDA5 allows for MDA5 CARD domains to be brought into close proximity, however this is insufficient for CARD oligomerization alongside MDA5 filaments<sup>85</sup>. The ATP hydrolytic activity of MDA5 filaments allows for the formation of CARD oligomers attached to the core MDA5 filament by a ~100 amino acid linker sequence, which allows for the stochastic assembly of CARD oligomers of up to 11 units<sup>85</sup>. These CARD oligomers along with MDA5 filaments are then able to act on the CARD of MAVS and initiate signalling through the MAVS pathway<sup>85</sup>. The ability of MDA5 to sense and preferentially bind to dsRNAs of varying length and still activate MAVS is a key component to the versatility of MDA5 to sense and initiate immune responses to a variety of different viruses. Furthermore, the ability of MDA5 to sense dsRNA of a size that also activates duck RIG-I<sup>84</sup> allows for a small amount of redundancy in antiviral signalling.

In avian species MDA5 has been shown to function similarly to its mammalian counterpart. In both Muscovy and mallard ducks MDA5 is upregulated following infection with IAV<sup>86,77</sup>. In chicken cells MDA5 has been shown to respond to both HPAI and LPAI infection and initiate immune signalling in the absence of RIG-I<sup>87,78</sup>. Furthermore, chicken MDA5 can recognize both long and short form poly(I:C) and therefore initiate the MAVS signalling cascade in response to multiple ligands similarly to its role in mammalian signalling<sup>88</sup>.

#### 1.4.3 LGP2.

LGP2 (laboratory of genetics and physiology 2) is a DExD/H-box helicase of the RLR family of innate immune receptors that can bind to ssRNA with and dsRNA<sup>89,90</sup>. The LGP2 protein consists of two domains, a CTD that can bind dsRNA and 5'ppp-ssRNA<sup>82</sup>, and a DEAD box helicase like domain that is likely involved in ATP recognition and hydrolysis, RNA binding, and recognition and binding of other similar helicase domains<sup>89</sup>. LGP2 is present in resting cells at a low basal level, yet can be induced and upregulated if a host cell senses infection by invading virus<sup>91,92</sup>. LGP2 is an IFN-stimulated gene, and as a result is activated by RIG-I and other IFN stimulating pathways, implying that LGP2 plays an active role in the feedback maintenance of anti-viral signalling pathways<sup>92</sup>.

The exact role of LGP2 in innate immunity remains unclear, however LGP2 is known to be a modulator of the RIG-I and MDA5 signalling pathway. LGP2 can reportedly play a dual role in the control of RLR signalling depending on the context in which it is activated. When a host cell contains viral dsRNA or 5'ppp-ssRNA, LGP2 can negatively regulate RIG-I activity by either competing for the available ligand and sequestering it, due to a slightly higher binding affinity than RIG-I<sup>93</sup>; or by directly inhibiting RIG-I signalling by directly binding to the RIG-I helicase domain<sup>92</sup>. It is worth noting that LGP2 has a higher affinity for dsRNA than for 5'ppp-ssRNA implying that RIG-I will be the majority PRR to recognize 5'ppp-ssRNA while LGP2 will compete incompletely for available ligand. In addition, MDA5 is not directly repressed by LGP2 as RIG-I is, even though MDA5 and RIG-I share similar helicase domains<sup>92</sup>.

MDA5 is reportedly activated by LGP2 and does not share the same feedback inhibition as RIG-I. However, LGP2 has been shown to activate MDA5 at low concentrations but act as an inhibitor at high concentrations<sup>94</sup>. LGP2 has also been shown to bind available MDA5 ligand thereby potentiating MDA5 signalling, and may play a role in preventing MDA5 polymer formation<sup>94,95,96</sup>. It is unknown precisely when and by what exact mechanisms LGP2 will act to potentiate the downstream signalling events of RIG-I and MDA5, regardless LGP2 appears to play a central role in innate anti-viral signalling. This multifunctional role is evidenced by the ability of LGP2 to inhibit the Dicer complex in mammalian cells, thereby inhibiting RNAi antiviral activity<sup>97</sup>. It has been suggested that the inhibition of RNAi is useful in complex cell types to allow for optimal activity of interferon based antiviral mechanisms<sup>98</sup>.

#### 1.4.4 The RIG-I signalling pathway in brief.

Basally expressed RIG-I proteins in the cytoplasm detect and bind to the 5'pppRNA panhandle structure of Influenza A genomic RNA. Through an ATP-dependent process monomers of bound RIG-I oligomerize<sup>99</sup>. The oligomerization of RNA bound RIG-I facilitates a change in RIG-I structure. The conformation of unbound RIG-I is such that the 2CARD domain is held inactive by interactions with the central helicase domain<sup>66</sup>. The binding of vRNA is sufficient to release the 2CARD and allow the 2CARD domains of multiple RIG-I monomers to tetramerize and adopt a more active helical form<sup>100</sup>. The active tetramerized 2CARD structure can now be acted upon by TRIM25, an E3-ubiquitin ligase. TRIM25 is responsible for the polyubiquitination of tetramerized RIG-I 2CARD<sup>31</sup>. Ubiquitination of the tetramer serves to stabilize the complex and facilitate better downstream interactions with MAVS<sup>100</sup>. The ubiquitinated 2CARD of the RIG-I filament are then able to interact with the CARD domain of MAVS. The ubiquitination of the 2CARD tetramers is necessary as a regulatory check to prevent overactivation of MAVS and induction overactive signalling<sup>101</sup>. Once bound, the CARD of MAVS oligomerize in a "prion-like" fashion and culminate in multiple active MAVS aggregates, more specifically these aggregates form filaments from which signalling can be further potentiated<sup>92</sup>. It is at this point where the RIG-I and MDA5 signalling pathways share downstream outcomes. Aggregated MAVS form signalling platforms which are host to a wide array of signalling events<sup>102</sup>. It is also worth noting that the NLRP3 inflammasome, mentioned earlier, can be activated from MAVS aggregates<sup>103,104</sup>. Regarding duck RIG-I and antiviral signalling, among the events activated by MAVS aggregates including apoptosis and its inhibition, inflammation, mitochondrial transport functions, autophagy, and ubiquitination and phosphorylation<sup>102</sup>, is the activation of IRF7 in birds. Interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF7) is an evolutionarily conserved transcription factor in the IRF family and is present in all vertebrate lineages<sup>105</sup>. IRF7 is a key signalling molecule in the RIG-I pathway, upon its phosphorylation as a result of

activated MAVS, pIRF7 is translocated to the nucleus of the infected cell where it stimulates a range of ISGs<sup>106</sup>. The stimulated ISGs are then able to effect an antiviral response, in part by acting as paracrine signals to warn adjacent cells of infection, but also by acting in an autocrine fashion to further upregulate and stimulate cellular defences including the further upregulation of RIG-I among a vast activation of immune effectors<sup>107,108</sup>.

#### 1.4.5 Additional functions of RIG-I.

#### 1.4.5.1 RIG-I and flaviviruses.

Aside from a central role in the detection of influenza, RIG-I is a PRR that can recognize multiple RNA viruses. RIG-I has been implicated in immune defence against flaviviruses such as Dengue, West Nile, and Zika<sup>109,110</sup>. *Flavivirus* is a genus in the family *Flaviviridae*<sup>111</sup> whose genome, in general, consists of one positive sense strand of RNA<sup>112,113</sup>. RIG-I detects these viruses in largely the same fashion as it does IAV, by recognizing the 5' portion of viral transcripts, and the 5' region of both Dengue and Zika viral genomes<sup>109,110</sup>. Recently a model for Dengue and Zika virus infection was developed using embryonic chickens<sup>114</sup>. Infection of chickens by either virus via mosquito, the common vector for both viruses, is rare however infection of chickens with West Nile virus by mosquitoes has been observed<sup>115</sup>. While chickens possess a protein, 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase, that can inhibit West Nile virus replication<sup>116</sup>, they are susceptible to Dengue and Zika virus infection<sup>114</sup>.

#### 1.4.5.2 RIG-I and cancer.

In addition to its role as a receptor of viral infection, RIG-I has also demonstrated an ability to control and regulate other cellular processes in mammals through its detection of RNAs and activation of interferon signalling. Recently RIG-I has been identified as a mediator of sensitivity and cell death to ionizing radiation in tumour cells<sup>117</sup>. Ionizing radiation leads to the formation of endogenous small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs) that can remain in the nucleus of irradiated cells but also translocate to the cytoplasm to more readily interact with RIG-I<sup>117</sup>. The binding of these small doublestranded snRNAs is sufficient to activate a RIG-I induced type I IFN response<sup>117</sup>. This IFN response is capable of recruiting immune cells to the location of tumour cells, thereby initiating an immune response to irradiated tumours secreting IFN<sup>117</sup>, this response has also been observed in pancreatic cancer cells<sup>118</sup>.

RIG-I has also been shown to play a role in IFN- $\alpha$  therapies in response to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)<sup>119</sup>. It has been proposed that in response to IFN- $\alpha$  in HCC cells, RIG-I binds to STAT1, preventing negative regulation of the JAK-STAT signalling pathway, leading to an increase in STAT1 activity and therefore an increase in ISG transcription<sup>119</sup>. STAT1 also impairs HCC proliferation and modulates HCC apoptosis through mechanisms involving p53 and cyclin E<sup>120</sup>. RIG-I has also been shown to modulate STAT1 signalling resulting in decreased growth in leukemia cells<sup>121</sup>. Furthermore, in an HCC mouse model RIG-I deficiency was associated with increased carcinogenesis<sup>119</sup>. RIG-I has also been shown to downregulate MMP9, a matrix metalloprotease involved in HCC tumour migration, via STAT1 which results in decreased HCC proliferation and migration<sup>122</sup>. In 1987 Kawaguchi and colleagues developed an immortal chicken cell line of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by chemical carcinogenesis to study oncogenesis in fowl<sup>123</sup>. The development of this cell line may have been aided by the lack of RIG-I in chickens, as RIG-I is apparently a key determinant of HCC propagation and migration<sup>119,122</sup>. Furthermore, hepatocellular carcinogenesis has been shown to correlate strongly with hepatitis B virus infection (HBV)<sup>124,125</sup>, to which chickens are susceptible<sup>126</sup>. RIG-I has also been shown to be a key PRR for HBV<sup>127</sup> detection, by binding to the 5' secondary structure of HBV pgRNA, as well as acting an effector to modulate HBV infection by blocking the interaction of HBV polymerase with 5'ε pgRNA<sup>127</sup>. Taken together this suggests that a lack of RIG-I may render chickens more susceptible not only to infection by a wide array of viruses but may also impart susceptibility to endogenous threats as well.

#### 1.4.5.3 RIG-I and T-cells.

In addition to its role as a PRR, RIG-I may modulate immune functions beyond innate immunity. RIG-I is thought to influence the function of CD8+ T-cells during IAV infection<sup>128</sup>. Little is known about the interactions of RIG-I and T-cells in avian species, however in RIG-I<sup>-/-</sup> mice infected with wild type and recombinant IAVs, both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells show decreased responsiveness to IAV infection<sup>128</sup>. Furthermore T-cells of RIG-I<sup>-/-</sup> mice show lower levels of activation and response to IAV antigen presentation than RIG-I<sup>+/+</sup> mouse T-cells<sup>128</sup>. In addition to altered T-cell signalling functions, it has been observed that RIG-I<sup>-/-</sup> mice show a lower absolute number of IAV specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells than RIG-I<sup>+/+</sup> mice<sup>128</sup>. Similar observations have been made in humans afflicted with dermatomyositis, an autoimmune disorder, where RIG-I mRNA and protein levels have been correlated with decreased levels of peripheral T lymphocytes<sup>129</sup>, although the exact mechanism of this correlation remains unclear. Dysregulated RIG-I signalling, and therefore dysregulated type I IFN signalling, appears to impact T-cell function and proliferation in mammals<sup>128,129,130</sup>. Whether T-cell function is influenced by RIG-I in avian species remains to be determined. However, the interaction between RIG-I signalling and T-cell function may serve as a critical linkage between innate and adaptive immunity to IAV infection.

#### 1.4.5.4 RIG-I can bind incoming viral nucleocapsids.

Although RIG-I is a predominantly cytoplasmic, and to a lesser extent nuclear, PRR which binds and recognizes naked viral RNA, it also appears to function as a receptor capable of recognizing incoming viral nucleocapsids<sup>131,132</sup>. RIG-I has been shown to initiate antiviral signalling upon binding of viral nucleocapsids<sup>131,132</sup>. Binding of viral nucleocapsid suggests that RIG-I plays a key role in detecting viral infection immediately upon cell entry and not simply after viral replication has begun<sup>131</sup>. RIG-I binds to the 5' panhandle structure of viral nucleocapsids as it does with naked viral RNA<sup>131</sup>. Furthermore RIG-I has been shown to slow viral infection by binding nucleocapsids containing the avian isoform of PB2 with higher affinity than mammalian adapted PB2<sup>132</sup>. The ability of RIG-I to bind viral nucleocapsids of mammalian and avian adapted strains suggests that RIG-I is a critical PRR at all stages of viral infection.

#### 1.4.6 A brief evolutionary context of RIG-I and RIG-I loss in chickens.

Although the exact evolutionary origins of RIG-I remain unknown, RIG-I and RIG-I homologs appear to be an ancient strategy for PAMP recognition and innate

immune signalling. RIG-I homologs have been reported in an array of organisms spanning evolutionary time. Recently a functional RIG-I homolog has been reported in the freshwater planarian *Dugesia japonica*<sup>225</sup>. It was first detected by transcriptomics and characterized by genomic sequence and protein homology compared to vertebrate RIG-I. In addition to RIG-I, homologs of the signalling proteins TRAF3 and TRAF6 were also reported, however there was no indication that a MAVS homolog was present in *D. japonica*<sup>225</sup>. This invertebrate RIG-I homolog was also found by qPCR to be upregulated following exposure of *D. japonica* to bacterial lipopolysaccharide and peptidoglycan, suggesting a role in invertebrate innate immunity<sup>225</sup>. The ability of this primitive RIG-I homolog to detect PAMPs that diverge significantly from vertebrate RIG-I PAMPs suggests that RIG-I may have evolved to detect different PAMPs.

A RIG-I homolog has also been reported in another invertebrate species, the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas*<sup>226</sup>. In addition to RIG-I, Huang et al. also describe the first isolation and cloning of an invertebrate MAVS homolog. Both CgRIG-I and CgMAVS were cloned from cDNA and found to be functional in roles homologous to avian and human RIG-I and MAVS. CgRIG-I was found to bind poly(I:C), and CgMAVS was found to play a role in immune signalling<sup>226</sup>. CgRIG-I and CgMAVS were also found by qRT-PCR to be upregulated following stimulation by poly(I:C) and infection by OsHV-1, an oyster herpes virus<sup>226</sup>. In addition to RIG-I and MAVS, oyster homologs to TRAF2, TRAF3, TRAF6, IRF2, and IRF8 were also reported. The findings of functional RIG-I homologs in invertebrates suggests that RIG-I or RIG-I like genes have played a role in innate immunity from early on in evolution. Furthermore, these findings suggest that RIG-I homologs may have diverged in the specific PAMP that they

recognize<sup>225,226</sup>, but not in their ability to recognize a pathogen. This suggests that the most primitive form of RIG-I may have established and maintained its role as an innate immune PRR throughout evolution.

RIG-I or a RIG-I-like homolog seems to have persisted through evolution having been found in invertebrates, fish, birds, and mammals<sup>65,67,225,226,227</sup>. Interestingly RIG-I seems to be missing in certain species including chickens<sup>67</sup>, and the Chinese treeshrew<sup>228</sup>. The absence of RIG-I in chickens is likely not a result of domestication. Most genome assemblies for Gallus gallus are not assembled from reads of domesticated agricultural lines of chicken, but more often are assembled from reads of the genome of red junglefowl, the ancestor of domesticated chickens. To date, RIG-I has not been found in the genome of red junglefowl and therefore appears to have been lost prior to domestication. The divergence of chickens from ducks happened approximately 90mya<sup>229</sup>. The domestication of chickens appears to have taken place during the Holocene period in south-east Asia ~9500 years ago from the red junglefowl species Gallus gallus spadiceus<sup>230</sup>. The absence of RIG-I in the chicken genome has been demonstrated by a lack of detectable RIG-I transcripts, lack of evidence of RIG-I sequences in the chicken genome, and a functional inability of chicken cells to detect RIG-I specific ligands<sup>67,193</sup>. RIG-I is not the sole innate immune gene missing in chickens, Riplet/RNF135 an E3 ubiquitin ligase that modifies RIG-I, the cytokine IRF3, and TLR8 all appear missing in chickens<sup>193</sup>.
#### 1.5 Chicken innate immunity and the consequences of a lack of RIG-I.

The different inflammatory responses to HPAI and LPAI in chickens and ducks, despite both animals being from a common evolutionary lineage, have some notable distinctions in their ability to succumb to, fight off, and resolve or survive IAV infections. The differences in the response to viral infection between these two species leads to the question, what is the difference in innate immunity between these two seemingly closely related species? And if there is a significant difference in innate immunity can we take advantage of that difference in an effort to reduce chicken susceptibility to IAV and improve infection outcomes in chickens. The most notable of these differences to examine is the lack of RIG-I in the genome of *Gallus gallus*. Chickens have been shown to lack both RIG-I and NOD2, however the downstream signalling machinery utilized by these PRRs remains in place. RIG-I shares a nearly identical signalling pathway with MDA5 and therefore it seems that a major missing puzzle piece to chicken susceptibility to IAV may be RIG-I, as RIG-I is a key PRR involved in the detection of RNA viruses<sup>133,134</sup>.

As MDA5 and RIG-I share convergent downstream signalling machinery through their respective interaction with MAVS, the upregulation of one detector often impacts the regulation of the other due to their shared signalling adapters and transcription factors<sup>107</sup>. This may partially be why the sole reliance on MDA5 in chickens can lead to the observed increase in mortality from IAV infection. Given the importance of RIG-I as a detector of many different ligands in other species, it follows that a lack of this key receptor renders chickens more susceptible to establishment of many viral infections, including avian influenza. As a result, the lack of RIG-I in chickens represents a

considerable weakness in the defence against influenza, and likely a contributor to the susceptibility of chickens to IAV. Chickens are susceptible not only to influenza viruses but are susceptible to other single strand RNA viruses. Newcastle disease virus, infectious bronchitis virus sometimes called avian coronavirus, Flaviviruses such as Dengue and Zika, as well as to infections by the families *Picornaviridae, Calcivirdae,* and *Retroviridae*<sup>114,231,232,233,234</sup>.

#### 1.6 A brief introduction to CRISPR/Cas9.

CRISPR/ Cas9 (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats / CRISPR associated protein 9) is a bacterial defence system in which the genetic material of invading pathogens is targeted<sup>135</sup>. In bacteria, resident endonucleases cleave invading DNA<sup>136</sup>. The resulting small fragments may be adapted into the CRISPR locus and transcribed as RNA and these RNAs can then complex with Cas proteins and provide targeting instructions to attack DNA homologous to the acquired targeting RNA<sup>136</sup>. The last step of the process, the precise targeting of DNA by an RNA/endonuclease pair has, in the last decade, been adapted for use as a tool in genetic modification<sup>137,138,139</sup>. Recently a variety of CRISPR/Cas9 systems have been shown to be effective for the silencing, knock-in, and knock-out of genes of interest in a wide array of model systems and organisms<sup>140,141,142</sup>. Of the different forms this system has taken recently, I am interested in methods of gene knock-ins using CRISPR/Cas9 that use more traditional molecular techniques like a two-plasmid system for homology directed repair. In a twoplasmid CRISPR/Cas 9 system a small guide RNA (sgRNA) containing pre-programmed targeting instructions for the desired locus of interest, is expressed from a plasmid. This sgRNA is part of a larger RNA scaffold which once transcribed can be bound by Cas9

protein expressed from the same plasmid. This Cas9-sgRNA complex is then free to hybridize to and cleave both strands of host genomic DNA at the locus of interest<sup>138</sup>. The resultant double-stranded break (DSB) can then be repaired.

The second of the two plasmids contains the sequence of the gene of interest to be knocked into the target locus. The gene of interest sequence is flanked on either side by regions that are homologous to the flanks of the DSB in the target locus. This homology to the target locus helps the gene of interest sequence hybridize over the DSB in order to act as repair instructions for use in normal templated DNA repair<sup>143</sup>. Normal cellular DNA repair machinery is then free to copy the gene of interest sequence into the DSB and thereby integrate the gene of interest stably into the target locus of the host genome<sup>143</sup> (Figure 1.1). This process is known as homology directed repair (HDR) and can be highly precise but is often inefficient for the knock-in of large genes of interest<sup>144</sup>. Still, in our case when trying to knock a lost gene back into an organism in the spot from which it was lost, precision of knock-in took priority in an effort to avoid disrupting other vital gene functions.





#### 1.7 Herpes Simplex 1 Thymidine Kinase and inducible suicide genes.

Herpes simplex 1 virus (HSV) encodes a thymidine kinase (TK) that has been used as a therapeutic drug-inducible negative selection mechanism<sup>154</sup>. This type of mechanism is known as an inducible "suicide gene" as cells expressing HSV TK will die when given a drug, while cells without TK will survive in the presence of the drug<sup>152,154,155</sup>. By including HSV-TK in the HDR template plasmid I hope to be able to take advantage of this selection system to kill any potential off-target knock-ins. Thymidine kinase (TK) is one of four types of salvage enzyme that catalyze the phosphorylation of deoxynucleoside precursors into deoxyribonucleotides that can be integrated into elongating DNA structures<sup>145,146</sup>. TK is unique among the nucleoside kinases in that its activity is tied to the cell cycle<sup>147</sup>. However, its function is of vital importance to healthy cell division. Nucleoside kinases are not unique to humans and some DNA viruses have been found to encode their own nucleoside kinases to facilitate viral DNA synthesis; as is the case with the human herpes simplex-1 virus (HSV) where it has been implicated as virulence factor<sup>148,149</sup>.

HSV TKs ability to phosphorylate nucleosides or their analogues has been utilized as a therapeutic antiviral strategy since the 1970's <sup>149</sup>. The TK encoded by HSV can preferentially phosphorylate acyclic nucleoside analogues rather than normal nucleosides<sup>150,151</sup>. The differential binding and phosphorylation of analogues by HSV TK has been employed as a system to kill cells that have been infected with HSV or cells that otherwise express HSV TK<sup>152</sup>. In such a system any cell expressing HSV TK will be able to phosphorylate a given suite of nucleosides<sup>150,151</sup>. If those nucleosides are able to be integrated into replicating DNA, they may disrupt the processing or assembly of new cellular DNA and the host cell may die as a result of dysregulated DNA replication<sup>153</sup>. TK, when expressed in a cell, is harmless without the presence of particular nucleoside analogues including ganciclovir (GCV)<sup>154</sup>. Ganciclovir is an acyclic guanosine analogue that lacks a phosphate and can be monophosphorylated by HSV TK<sup>155</sup>. Once GCV is phosphorylated it can be further phosphorylated eventually becoming GCV-triphosphate (GCV-TP), a close analogue to guanosine<sup>155,152</sup>. GCV-TP can then be utilized by DNA transcription machinery in place of guanosine and is preferentially integrated into

elongating DNA backbones<sup>153,152</sup>. GCV and GCV-TP have an acyclic sugar moiety instead of a deoxyribose moiety<sup>151</sup>. This lack of a cyclic sugar backbone prevents further elongation of a DNA backbone during transcription, this disrupts DNA replication leading to the death of the cell in which both TK and GCV are present<sup>155,152</sup>.

Due to the TK cassette being located "outside" the sequence flanked by the homology arms it is not intended to be knocked into transfected cells. The HSV-TK cassette would not be located in the space of the DSB and should not be included as DSB repair instructions (Figure 1.1, Figure 3.2). In the event that a knock-in occurs off-target or in a location other than the intended DSB, the homology arms should not provide any stabilization by hybridizing to the host genome and therefore any portion or the entirety of the HDR template may be integrated into the host genome. If this is the case, then TK may be expressed and can act on GCV supplied to transfected cells. If a cell undergoes an off-target knock-in and TK is expressed in the presence of GCV that off-target cell should succumb to selection. However, if TK is expressed in the absence of GCV or likewise GCV is applied to cells without TK expression the cell would survive selection. It is entirely possible that some combination of these events may occur and the selection system may not kill all off-target cells.

#### **1.8 CRISPR in domestic chickens.**

#### 1.8.1 CRISPR in a chicken system.

Since 2015 a number of reports using CRISPR approaches to modify the genome of chickens and chicken cells have been reported<sup>156</sup>. One of the earliest of these reports utilized a Cas9 non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) approach with multiple sgRNAs to

knock-out the transcription factor PAX7 in chicken primordial germ cells (PGCs) in ovo<sup>156</sup>. By supplying a Cas9 plasmid with no additional template or repair instructions for the induced DSB, the endogenous error prone NHEJ pathway of DNA repair is utilized and as a result insertions or deletions (indels) often accompany repair of the DSB. These indels may manifest as early stop codons, frameshift mutations, substitution mutations resulting in non-functional proteins resulting in disruption of the coding sequence of the target gene where the DSB was made, in the case above the gene PAX7.

Early CRISPR work in chickens employed this NHEJ knock-out strategy,<sup>156,157,158</sup> however more recent works have expanded beyond NHEJ or HDR mediated knock-outs and have moved to include NHEJ, HDR, or similar mechanisms to mediate knock-in of genes into chicken cells or chicken embryos<sup>159,160,161,162</sup>. Recent approaches attempting to knock-in functional genes into chicken cells have utilized a variety of DNA repair mechanisms to achieve successful knock-in<sup>159,160,161,162</sup>. To date most genes of interest (GOIs) knocked into chicken cells via CRISPR have been relatively small genes<sup>160</sup>, or fluorophores<sup>161,162</sup>. An attempt to knock-in a protein coding gene and promoter larger than ~1kb has yet to be reported. However, given the recent increase in reports of CRISPR knock-ins in chicken cells and the diversity of knock-in strategies a successful knock-in of larger or more complex GOIs, similar to our approach, may not be far away.

#### **1.8.2** Recent similar publications and interest in CRISPR knock-ins in chickens.

Since 2015 CRISPR/Cas9 been used in chickens in almost any available form of the system, however in 2019 two instances of targeted gene insertion were reported, one in the OVA locus<sup>161</sup> and one in the Z chromosome<sup>162</sup>. In 2019 Lee *et al* used a two plasmid CRIPSR approach to knock-in green fluorescent protein (GFP) under the control

of human cytomegalovirus (hCMV) into the Z chromosome of chicken primordial germ cells. The target site chosen by Lee *et al* to knock-in GFP is near the purported breakage point on the Z chromosome, however the site of insertion was ~370kb downstream of *ACO1*. The cells modified by Lee *et al* were then placed into chicken embryos and allowed to hatch. There are similarities between the work published in 2019 and our approach but there are also some important differences. In their work the authors opted for an NHEJ mediated knock-in rather than HDR, their cassette of interest to knock-in was ~4 kb where our genes of interest were 5.3 kb, however both contained GFP<sup>162</sup>. While their work did not include innate immune genes, the similarities in approach between our work and theirs, supports the idea of using a two-plasmid CRISPR-mediated approach to knock-in functional genes into chicken cells and chickens.

#### 1.9 A brief look at CRISPR modification of cell lines.

Adaptation of the CRISPR/Cas9 system to function as a precise gene editing tool has allowed for new approaches to the modification and development of cell lines. CRISPR editing has been applied to a wide range of animal cell lines including fish, human, mouse, rat, quail, and chicken<sup>163,164,165,166,167,168</sup>. In many of these early reports CRIPSR was utilized to knock-out a gene and thereby create a new stably modified cell line<sup>163,164,169,166,167,168</sup>. Most of these approaches employed a Cas9 enzyme to induce either DSBs or single or double nicks in host cell DNA to disrupt gene function. CRISPR had also been utilized to remove a large fragment (30 Mb) of chromosomal DNA from the human cell line HAP1 resulting in a fully haploid human cell line<sup>164</sup>.

However, CRISPR mediated knockouts were not the only initial uses of the system to modify cell lines. The use of CRISPR to knock-in a genetic element for the creation of a new cell line had also been reported. In 2014 Park *et al* used CRISPR to attach an inducible destabilizing domain to the critically important TCOF-1 protein in human cells<sup>170</sup>. Shortly thereafter CRISPR had been utilized to knock-in genetic elements and protein coding genes. In one case the fluorescent reporter Venus, and a gene involved in embryonic neural development, *Sox-1*, were both knocked into haploid mouse embryonic stem cells<sup>165</sup>. In general, CRISPR had therefore demonstrated a practical utility for the precise knock-in or knockout of genes of interest in a wide range of cell types.

The chicken embryonic fibroblast line DF-1 has been widely used as a model system in which to investigate avian cell function since its first use in 1998<sup>171,172</sup>. Briefly, DF-1 cells are a non-transformed, spontaneously immortalized cell line of embryonic chicken fibroblasts derived from East Lansing Line chickens<sup>173</sup>. DF-1 cells were initially intended for the propagation and harvesting of viruses and viral proteins<sup>173</sup>. However, DF-1 cells have been used to study cell biology in a range of contexts including parasitology<sup>174,175,176</sup>, toxicology<sup>177,178,179</sup>, genetic engineering<sup>180,181,182,182</sup>, and in particular virology and immunology<sup>67,78,183,180,184</sup>. The widespread use of DF-1 cells has generated a considerable knowledge base concerning the culturing and maintenance of the cells as well as their general characteristics and functions. In addition to their wide applicability to diverse research areas, the DF-1 cell line my be of particular interest in the study of influenza. Influenza infection in humans, ducks, and chickens occurs initially in epithelial tissues of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tract<sup>3,235,236</sup>. Currently there are no chicken epithelial cell lines, however DF-1 cells being fibroblasts may be a reasonable facsimile as epithelial cells and fibroblasts are known to interact following lung injury<sup>237</sup>.

The proximity of fibroblasts to epithelial tissue and their role in connective tissue structure may also be relevant for investigating the expression of duck RIG-I in chickens. The expression of an innate immune receptor in cells that would likely be the first to encounter influenza suggests DF-1 cells may be a suitable model system. It is worth noting however that DF-1 cells are not without drawbacks, especially in a genetic modification context. DF-1 cells are a spontaneously immortalized cell line, and as such might be subject to genetic aberrations that may facilitate perpetual growth and division<sup>245</sup>. This is partially evidenced by DF-1 cells having a ~22% polyploidy rate, as reported by the manufacturer. The presence of extra chromosomes may present a compounding challenge in the CRISPR modification of DF-1 cells. However, the advantages of using DF-1 cells likely outweigh the drawbacks.

Furthermore, our group in particular has demonstrated that duck RIG-I could be expressed and activate cell signalling pathways that lead to the induction of interferon reporter activation in DF-1 cells<sup>67</sup>. Furthermore, given the origin of DF-1 cells in studying immunity and infection, and the history of DF-1 use by our group I chose to use DF-1s as the progenitors into which I would knock duck RIG-I.

With the growing prevalence and availability of CRISPR technology a number of cell line modifications and developments have been reported. Most strategies remain focused on the use of knockouts for modification<sup>185,186,187</sup>, as CRISPR based NHEJ strategies use fewer constructs and foreign DNAs in general allowing for streamlined experimental design. CRISPR modifications have therefore been reported in a wide range of host cell types including chicken cell lines. Recent uses of CRISPR in chicken systems to achieve both knockouts and knock-ins have been reported in two chicken cell types,

primordial germ cells (PGCs)<sup>184,188,189</sup> and the embryonic fibroblast line DF-1<sup>180,181,190</sup>. These approaches have generally used the CRISPR/Cas9 platform to induce DSBs in host immune genes and relied on the error inducing NHEJ repair mechanism to knockout target genes and examine resultant phenotypes<sup>157,180,181,189</sup>. Furthermore, a recent report has used CRISPR to explore the role of chicken MDA5 in innate signalling by knocking out MDA5 in DF-1 cells<sup>180</sup>. The results of this MDA5 knockout corroborate the central role of MDA5 in the induction of IFN signalling in response to poly(I:C)<sup>180</sup>. In addition to this recent report CRISPR/Cas9 has been used to knock in GFP into multiple loci in both DF-1s and PGCs<sup>180,191</sup>. Although recent, these reports corroborate that the embryonic fibroblast line DF-1 is well suited for CRISPR based approaches.

#### 1.10 Thesis project Aims.

Previous work by our group suggests that transient over-expression of dRIG-I in chicken fibroblast cells is sufficient to augment innate immune response against influenza infection<sup>67,78</sup>. In that work, DF-1 cells were transfected with either an empty expression vector or with an expression vector for dRIG-I. Those cells that expressed dRIG-I were shown to have lower viral titre than cells without dRIG-I<sup>67</sup>. Additional experiments showed that expression of duck RIG-I and viral infection was sufficient to upregulate an array of innate immune genes<sup>78</sup>. Further research has shown that the core promoter responsible for driving RIG-I expression in ducks is sufficient to drive gene expression in chicken cells<sup>75</sup>. From these findings we conclude that the stable knock-in and expression of duck RIG-I in the genome of domestic chickens will result in a functional transgene which may improve innate immune defence against IAV, and restore vital innate immune signalling function in a chicken model.

This project is comprised of three aims all with the goal of creating a model cell line to study host immunity to avian influenza. The first aim of the project was to construct a homology directed repair template plasmid suitable to direct the knock-in of duck RIG-I and eGFP into the genome of chicken cells. The second aim was to modify a commercial Cas9 plasmid for use in an avian system that would target the precise locus where I intended to insert duck RIG-I. The third aim was to use these plasmids in tandem to knock duck RIG-I into a particular locus in the Z chromosome of chicken cells.

Research into understanding disease dynamics and molecular mechanisms of pathogenesis is crucial in maintaining healthy agricultural livestock and preventing zoonotic disease outbreaks. Here I knock duck RIG-I into the genome of chicken fibroblasts (DF-1) by employing a CRISPR/Cas9 two-plasmid homology directed repair approach. This work hopes to contribute to the body of knowledge by investigating the creation of a model cell line for understanding how potential dRIG-I transgenic chickens or other similar immune-modified organisms may react to, or effect, host-pathogen disease dynamics.

#### **Chapter 2 Materials and Methods.**

#### 2.1 Plasmid propagation.

All plasmids were grown in DH5-α chemically competent *E. coli* (New England Biolabs) on LB media. Plasmid DNA was extracted from transformed *E. coli* via column purification kit (GeneAid). Plasmids phRG-TK and pAL119-TK were kindly gifted by Dr Brad Magor's group (University of Alberta).

#### 2.2 DNA isolations and HDR plasmid construction.

To facilitate the construction of a 14 kb HDR donor plasmid and modification of a Cas9 expression plasmid, all necessary components were cloned via polymerase chain reaction (PCR) as individual cassettes. All PCR reactions in this work were done using Phusion High-Fidelity DNA polymerase (New England Biolabs). All PCR primers used were designed by hand (Table 2.1). PCR amplicons were purified by gel electrophoresis and column purification (Luna-Nanotech) (Table 2.1). Where required, chicken genomic DNA was collected and purified by column purification (Qiagen). Following PCR amplification, DNA fragments were spliced via overlap extension PCR<sup>192</sup> (Table 2.2). All fragments were also cloned into a pCR2.1-TOPO storage vector (Invitrogen) and validated by Sanger sequencing upon isolation and splicing via primer walking (Table 2.3) Overlap extensions spliced fragments were joined together to form the completed circular HDR plasmid (Figure 3.2) by Gibson Assembly using a Gibson assembly kit (New England Biolabs). All Gibson assembly primers were designed by hand and validated with NEBuilder (Table 2.4).

#### 2.3 dRIG-I promoter reporter vector construction.

In order to corroborate the ability of the 500 bp duck RIG-I promoter to drive gene expression at an appreciable level in DF-1 cells a dRIG-I promoter reporter vector was constructed. The reporter consisted of a pcDNA3.1(+) backbone, from which the MCS and CMV promoter were removed by restriction digest. To the resultant backbone fragment we inserted a cassette with the mCherry fluorophore under the control of the 500 bp dRIG-I promoter, with an SV40 poly-A signal, by Gibson assembly (Table 2.4).

#### 2.4 Cell culture.

Wild type DF-1 cells, an immortalized embryonic chicken fibroblast line<sup>172</sup> (UMNSAH/DF-1 ATCC<sup>®</sup>CRL-12203) were maintained in culture at 39°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in growth media consisting of Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) (Gibco) + 10% FBS (Gibco) and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin (Gibco). Cells were passaged by trypsin digestion every 4 days with a 1:4 split.

#### 2.5 Cell transfection.

All transfections were done using Lipofectamine 2000 according to manufacturers instructions at a ratio of 2.5  $\mu$ L per  $\mu$ g of plasmid DNA delivered. Cells were then imaged via confocal microscopy.

#### 2.6 Confocal microscopy.

Cells that were transiently transfected with HDR plasmid were imaged via confocal microscopy on a Leica TCS SP5. Prior to imaging cells were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde. Cells were stained with Hoechst 33342 nuclear stain (Life

technologies) and mounted to a glass coverslip. Stained cells were imaged with excitation wavelengths of 350 nm for Hoechst, 587 nm for mCherry, and 488 nm for eGFP.

#### 2.7 Fluorescence activated cell sorting and negative selection.

Twenty-four hours after transfection with both Cas9 and HDR plasmids, cells were trypsinized and pelleted at 4000x g at 4°C. Cells were then resuspended at ~ $1.0x10^{6}$  cells/mL in a cell sorting buffer (1% PBS + 1% FBS + 0.5 mM EDTA). Cells were sorted on a BD FACS ARIA II into pure FBS (Gibco). Positively sorted cells were then pelleted and resuspended in selection media consisting of growth media with the addition of 5  $\mu$ M ganciclovir and allowed to recover for 10 days. Cells were then trypsinized and seeded at a density of 1 cell/well in a 96-well plate and allowed to expand to confluency under selection for 3 weeks with media changes every 5 days. All confluent wells were trypsinized and cells were seeded in 24-well plates; cells were again allowed to expand to confluency under selection for ~3 weeks. Cells were maintained in 24-well plate culture for 1 week.

#### 2.8 Cell screening.

All surviving cell lines were screened via PCR for genomic presence of duck RIG-I. Cells were trypsinized and pelleted before genomic DNA was isolated by column purification (Qiagen). Genomic DNA was used as a PCR template for amplification of the duck RIG-I cassette: from the promoter to the 3'UTR (Table 2.1). Genomic DNA was also used as a PCR template for amplification of chicken GAPDH, and HSV TK (Table 2.1).

#### 2.9 Western Blot.

DF-1 cells were seeded in 6 well plates and transiently transfected with 2  $\mu$ g of Cas9 plasmid as above. Cells were lysed in place in lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl +1.0% Triton X-100 + 50 mM TRIS pH 8.0 + cOmplete proteinase inhibitor [Sigma]). Whole cell lysate was boiled in 8x Laemmli buffer prior to electrophoresis. Whole cell lysate was run on 12% SDS-PAGE resolving gel for ~2 hr followed by transfer to nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane was then blotted with anti-Cas9 antibody (AbCam #ab191468) overnight followed by blotting with goat-anti-mouse secondary antibody for 1 hr. This process was repeated exactly with anti-chicken- $\beta$ -actin primary antibody. Blots were imaged on a ChemiDoc imager (BioRad) with 20 min exposure.

#### 2.10 HSV TK/GCV cell death assay.

Wild type DF-1 cells, DF-1 cells transiently transfected with 10  $\mu$ g HDR template plasmid for 24 hr, and one representative CRISPR modified clone (P2D5) from the 12 surviving lines of dRIG-I+ cells, were seeded at 5.0x10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL. Cells were then immediately exposed to a range of (0-20  $\mu$ M) ganciclovir concentrations for 72 hrs. growth media supernatant and adherent cells were collected and assessed for viability using trypan blue (Gibco) dye exclusion assay. Cells were incubated in equal volume of trypan blue (0.4%) for 3 min prior to enumeration by haemocytometer.

#### 2.11 RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, rtPCR and qPCR.

To investigate transcription of transgenes, dRIG-I positive cells were stimulated with 500 ng poly (I:C) and 250 ng RIG-I ligand (Invivogen) for 24 hr. Cells were then pelleted, and RNA was isolated from pellets by column purification (Luna Nanotech).

RNA was treated with TurboDNase (Invitrogen) as per manufacturer's instructions to eliminate gDNA contamination. Complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesized from RNA using oligo DT (IDT) and Superscript III (Invitrogen). cDNA was then used as template for reverse transcriptase PCR (rtPCR) and was diluted 1:10 for use as quantitative PCR (qPCR) template. rtPCR was done to amplify transcripts of HSV TK from all 12 clonal cell lines (Table 2.1). A set of cDNA was prepared without reverse transcriptase as a control for gDNA contamination. qPCR was done using a Quantstudio 3 (Applied Biosystems), using a primer-probe strategy amplifying for chicken GAPDH, duck RIG-I, and chicken Mx-1 (Table 2.5).

DNA fragment	Direction	Sequence
500 bp duck RIG-I promoter	Fwd	GAGCGGCGGAGACAAAGTGCCA
1	Rev	GGCTGGGCTCTGCCGGCC
Duck RIG-I coding sequence	Fwd	CGGCCGGCAGAGCCC
	Rev	GCCATTGAGGTACCTAGCACACAC
Duck RIG-I 3' UTR	Fwd	GTGTGTGTGTGCTAGGTACCTCAATGGCA
	Rev	GAAGTCTGGGATCTAGGTGAGGAGAAGGG
5' homology arm	Fwd	TGGAATGATTCCCCATGTCCGTAGA
	Rev	TTCTTAAAAGAGTGCCTGCATTTAATATATA
3' homology arm	Fwd	AAAATGCAATGAAAACAGGTGGACAACA
	Rev	TGCCAGGCTGCTGTGTTAGCT
eGFP cassette	Fwd	CGTTACATAACTTACGGTAAATGGCCCG
	Rev	CGCGTTAAGATACATTGATGAGTTTGG
HSV TK promoter	Fwd	CGGGCTCGAGATCTAAATGAGTCTT
	Rev	CAGTACCGGAATGCCAAGCTTTTAAG
HSV TK coding sequence	Fwd	ATCCCGACATGGCTTCGTACC
	Rev	GGTCGGGGAGAGGAGTGTTA
Chicken U6.3 promoter	Fwd	CAGACAGACGTCAGGCTTTCTAAG
	Rev	GACTAAGAGCATCGAGACTGCGG
mCherry coding sequence	Fwd	ATGGTGAGCAAGGGCGAG
	Rev	TTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCC

**Table 2.1.** List of primers used for PCR amplification of DNA fragments.

<b>DNA fragments</b>	Direction	Sequence
mCherry + pcDNA	Fwd	GCGGCCGGCAGAGCCCAGCCATGGTGAGCAAGGGCGAGGA
dRIG-I coding sequence + dRIG-I promoter	Fwd	GCCATTGAGGTACCTAGCACACAC
dRIG-I coding sequence + dRIG-I 3' UTR	Fwd	GTGTGTGTGTGCTAGGTACCTCAATGGCA
eGFP + 3' Homology Arm	Rev	GCTCGACATGTTCTCCTTTTACGTTAC
HSV TK promoter + HSV	Rev	GTACGAAGCCATGTCGGGATCAGTACCGGAATGCCAAGC

**Table 2.2.** List of primers used for overlap extension PCR splicing of DNA fragments.

Template	Binding Location	Primer Sequence	
HDR – dRIG-I	Start	ATGACGGCGGAGGAGAA	
	Internal	GCATCGCGTCCAGCATCCCTCGGA	
	Internal	ACTGGAAGAGCTTGTCTGCATCCTG	
	Internal	CCCATCAAAACACCTGGCTTTATGT	
	Internal	ACAGGTATGACCCTCCCAAGCCAG	
	5' UTR / Start	CGGCCGGCAGAGCCCAGCC	
	Stop / 3' UTR	GTGTAGGAGAGTAATAGATGCACTA	
	3' UTR internal	GCCATTGAGGTACCTAGCACACAC	
	Internal	CTACCTTGACATACAGGCCATATCC	
	dRIG-I Prom. internal	GGCTGGGCTCTGCCGGCC	
	dRIG-I Prom.	GAGCGGCGGAGACAAAGTGCCA	
	dRIG-I Prom. internal	CGGCCGGCAGAGCCC	
	dRIG-I Prom. / Start	CGGCCGGCAGAGCCCAGCCAT	
	Internal	GCCAGTATGACATATTCTG	
	Internal	ATCAGGCATGTGCTTATATAG	
	Internal	AGTTCTCAATTGCTTCTGCCA	
HDR - 5' homology arm	5'	TGGAATGATTCCCCATGTCCGTAGA	
	Internal	GGCTCATTTCCTGTCCATGTTGT	
	3'	TTCTTAAAAGAGTGCCTGCATTTAATATATA	
	Internal	CTCAACAGAACAGCTAACTG	
HDR – eGFP	hCMV Prom. 5'	CGTTACATAACTTACGGTAAATGGCCCG	
	Internal	CTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCCGA	
	Stop	CGCGTTAAGATACATTGATGAGTTTGG	
	Internal	GACACGCTGAACTTGTGG	
HDR - 3' homology arm	3'	TGCCAGGCTGCTGTGTTAGCT	
	Internal	ACTCTCTCTTCCTGTTTCTAAGATGC	
	5'	AAAATGCAATGAAAACAGGTGGACAACA	
	Internal	GATAGACAACAAAAGCAGTG	
HDR – HSV TK	Prom. 5'	CGGGCTCGAGATCTAAATGAGTCTT	
	Prom. internal	CAGTACCGGAATGCCAAGCTTTTAAG	
	Prom. / Start	ATCCCGACATGGCTTCGTACC	
	3' / Stop	GGATCCTCAGTTAGCCTCCC	
	Internal	CGAATGAGAGTGTTTCGTTC	
	Internal	GGTCCACTTCGCATATTAAG	

**Table 2.3.** List of primers used for Sanger sequencing reactions of each of the HDR template, avian adapted eSpCas9(1.1), and dRIG-I-mCherry pcDNA plasmids.

Template	<b>Binding Location</b>	Primer Sequence
HDR – HSV TK	Internal	CACTCTTGCAGCGTTAGCAG
	internal	CIGCIAACOCIGCAAGAGIO
HDR – pCRTOPO2 1	Internal	GTAAAACGACGGCCAG
india pontior of 2.1	Internal	CAGGAAACAGCTATGAC
	Internal	CTGGCCGTCGTTTTACAACG
	Internal	CATGATTGAACAAGATGGATTGCAC
	Internal	GAGTATGAGTATTCAACATTTCCGTG
	Internal	AGCTGTTTCCTGTGTGAAATTG
	Internal	GAAGATCCTTTGATCTTTTCTACG
	Internal	CATACTCTTCCTTTTTCAATTCAG
	Internal	CGAAACGATCCTCATCCTGTC
	Internal	GGCTCCATACCGACGATCTGCG
	Internal	TGGTAACTGTCAGACCAAGTTTAC
eSpCas9(1.1)	Internal	CTGTTTCCCCTGGCCAGAG
1 ( )	Internal	CTGGCAGACAGGATGGCC
	Internal	CAGGTGCTCCAGGTAATTAAAC
	Internal	CTGTCAGACCAAGTTTACTCA
	AmpR. Start	ATGAGTATTCAACATTTCCGTG
	Internal	ACGCGCCCTGTAGCGGC
	Internal	CATCGAGCAGATCAGCGAG
	Internal	GAGTTCGTGTACGGCGAC
	Internal	GCACGAGCACATTGCCAATCT
	Internal	GATCGAGAAGATCCTGACCT
	Chic. β-Actin Prom. Start	GAACGTGGGGGCTCACCTCGA
	Internal	CCTCGACCATGGTAATA
	Internal	ATGTAACGGGTACCTCTA
	Internal	CATGGTAATAGCGATGACTAATAC
	Internal	GCCTATGGAAAAACGCCAG
dRIG-I-mCherry pcDNA	Internal	CAGTCGAGGCTGATCAGCG
	Internal	TGCGCTGCTTCGCGATG
	mCherry Start	ATGGTGAGCAAGGGCGAG
	mCherry Stop	TTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCC

### Table 2.3 Continued.

<b>DNA fragment</b>	Direction	Primer sequence
HDR - 5' homology arm	Fwd	ATTACGCCAAGCTTGGTACCGAGCTAGAAAATAAATGAGTACTTTTGG
65	Rev	GTCTCCGCCGTCCTTCTTAAAAGAGTGCCTGC
HDR - dRIG-I	Fwd	GATCCCAGACTTCCGTTACATAACTTACGGTAAATGGC
	Rev	GATCTCGAGCCCGCAGGGTTCCCTGGGGTAG
HDR - eGFP	Fwd	GATCCCAGACTTCCGTTACATAACTTACGGTAAATGGC
	Rev	GATCTCGAGCCCGCAGGGTTCCCTGGGGTAG
HDR - HSV TK	Fwd	CCAGGGAACCCTGCGGGCTCGAGATCTAAATG
	Rev	CGGCCGTTACTAGTGGATCCGAGCTGGTCGGGGAGAGGAGTGTTAG
eSpCas9(1.1)	Fwd	GCCTTTTGCTGGCCTTTTGCTCACATGTTTACATGTCAGACAGA
	Rev	CCGTAAGTTATGTAACGGGTACCTCTAGAGCCATTTGTCTGCAG
dRIG-I-mCherry pcDNA	Fwd	GATATACGCGTTGACATTGATTATTGAGAGCGGCGGAGACAAAGTGCCAGG
	Rev	CTGCAGAATTCCACCACACTGGATTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCCGCC

**Table 2.4.** List of primers used to attach regions of complementarity by PCR for Gibson assembly.

**Table 2.5.** Summary of primers and probe sequences used for qPCR amplification of chicken Mx-1, chicken GAPDH, and duck RIG-I.

Gene	Direction	Sequence
cMx-1	Fwd	GAGAGAATCGTATACTGCCAAGATAACA
	Rev	TGAAACGGATGCAAAACTGATC
	Probe	FAM-CGCTCTACC/Zen/AAGGCAGAAATACTCGGCA-3IABkFQ
cGAPDH	Fwd	GGTGCTAAGCGTGTTATCATCTCA
	Rev	CATGGTTGACACCCATCACAA
	Probe	FAM-CTCCCTCAG/Zen/CTGATGCCCCCATG-3IABkFQ
dRIG-I	Fwd	GGAGAGCAGGATATGTAGAG
	Rev	GGTCAGGTAGGATAAAGCATC
	Probe	FAM-TCCGCAGGT/Zen/GTTCAGTGCAAATGAAA-31ABKFQ

## Chapter 3 Results.

#### **3.1** Identification of a target locus for the knock-in of duck RIG-I.

During the evolution of birds, the gene encoding RIG-I was lost in chickens and remains missing<sup>193</sup>. To determine where the RIG-I gene was lost in chickens I compared the Z chromosome of ducks to the Z chromosome of chickens. When those two regions are compared, the identity and position of the flanking genes suggests a locus from which RIG-I was lost in chickens (Figure 3.1). When each of the Z chromosomes are aligned it appears that there was a recombination event resulting in the reversal of a section of the chromosome encompassing approximately 12 genes, or blocks of genes. At the 5'end of this section in the chicken, RIG-I appears to have been lost, which would suggest a point of chromosomal breakage near the sequence of RIG-I (Figure 3.1). The order of genes of both chromosomes shows a pattern that suggests a double stranded break and chromosomal inversion event took place at the locus of *DDX58* and *LOX* in chickens (Figure 3.1).

To identify a region of the Z chromosome suitable for the knock-in of RIG-I a unique region of genomic DNA was needed. 25 kb of DNA was examined in 2.5 kb segments for a section with no known genes, no large repetitive sequences, and only one instance of that segment in the chicken genome. The site chosen for the knock-in of RIG-I is the centre of chromosomal position 71,285,522 bp - 71,286,122 bp which would place RIG-I at the 3' end of the "MROH-like block" in between *ACO1* and *PRR16*. This position was chosen to mimic the current position of RIG-I in the duck genome as it seemed logical to put a "lost" gene back where it was "lost" from. Furthermore, the

region of the Z chromosome surrounding *ACO1* should be euchromatic as *ACO1* (aconitase 1) is a key enzyme of the Krebs' cycle and therefore should be under continuous transcription<sup>194,195</sup>. An open chromatin conformation is essential to facilitate the knock-in of RIG-I. To achieve such a knock-in we chose to use a CRISPR/Cas9 system.



corresponding locus in Gallus gallus (bottom). Compiled using NCBI gene annotations: Gallus gallus NCBI Figure 3.1. Schematic map of genes surrounding the DDX58 locus in Anas platyrhynchos (top) and the annotation release 104, Anas platyrhynchos annotation release 103.

#### **3.2** Plasmid design and construction.

#### 3.2.1 HDR template plasmid design rationale.

To knock duck RIG-I into a specific locus in the chicken genome I constructed an HDR template plasmid. In addition to the HDR template plasmid, a Cas9 and sgRNA expression plasmid was also required. Of the wide range of Cas9 expression plasmids commercially available I chose eSpCas9(1.1) (Addgene # 71814) for its simplicity and ease of availability, however this plasmid required modification for use in an avian context. Replacement of eSpCas9(1.1) mammalian U6 with the avian derived U6.3 along with an sgRNA sequence targeted to the chicken Z chromosome was achieved with no observed mutations as verified by Sanger sequencing.

To test the ability of the RIG-I promoter to drive expression of a fluorescent gene we generated a construct dRIG-I/mCherry construct. Replacement of pcDNA3.1 hCMV promoter and MCS with mCherry under the control of the 500 bp duck RIG-I promoter was done with no observed mutations as verified by Sanger sequencing.

The third plasmid, which required *de novo* assembly, was the duck RIG-I HDR repair template plasmid. This plasmid was constructed by a combination of overlap extension PCR and Gibson assembly, with the only observed mutation being a 203 bp truncation of the CMV enhancer upstream of the CMV promoter driving eGFP expression (Figure 3.4). This truncation can likely be explained by a polymerase jump due to the presence of a repeat of 9 nucleotides (ACGGTAAAT) in the enhancer sequence (Figure 3.4). This mutation did not affect CMV promoter function or eGFP expression.

#### 3.2.2 HDR template and Cas9 expression plasmid construction.

To enable easy propagation and selection of the HDR plasmid in bacteria I chose to base the HDR plasmid on the commercial pCR2.1-TOPO cloning vector (Invitrogen). This backbone contains features which make the cloning, growth, and propagation of the plasmid in E. coli cells straightforward. pCR2.1-TOPO contains two antibiotic resistance genes allowing for selection with either ampicillin or kanamycin when grown in bacterial cells. The backbone also contains a cloning site that interrupts a bacterial lac operon. This operon interruption system allows for detection of successful transformants by a change in colour observed on a treated agar plate. Together these features provide the HDR plasmid with tools to make the propagation of the plasmid more streamlined in the laboratory. The pCR2.1-TOPO backbone was obtained by restriction enzyme digest using EcoRI to remove the MCS, followed by T4 ligation to re-circularize the vector. Removal of the MCS was necessary to maintain the colour-based screening mechanism present in pCR2.1-TOPO that allows for visual identification of successfully transformed *E. coli* during cloning. The resultant "blank" pCR21.TOPO vector was prepared for Gibson assembly by SacI restriction enzyme digest.

To guide duck RIG-I to the DSB in the chicken genome I cloned two homology arms to flank the gene of interest from the immortal chicken embryonic fibroblast cell line DF-1. Homology arms were created by cloning the endogenous genomic sequences either 5' or 3' of the intended knock-in locus. The upstream and downstream homology arms were each 1.25 kb in length as longer homology arms tend to yield more efficient knock-ins<sup>196</sup> and the total amount of homology, up to around 2 kb, is purportedly better suited for large knock-ins<sup>197,198,199</sup>. Each homology arm was placed up or downstream of the gene of interest on the plasmid to mimic the orientation of the genomic sequence to which they should hybridize (Figure 3.2).

The genomic sequence of RIG-I in mallard ducks is approximately 22 kb, a sequence far too large to be knocked in with any degree of certainty. Therefore, I decided to use the 2.8 kb coding sequence of duck RIG-I, originally obtained from mRNA, which we previously demonstrated to have activity in chicken cells<sup>67,78</sup>. To further mimic the conditions in which RIG-I is normally found in the duck genome I decided not to use a promoter that might overexpress duck RIG-I but to use the recently characterized endogenous promoter of RIG-I in ducks<sup>75</sup>. Of the reported lengths of duck RIG-I promoter that showed activity, the 250 bp form was reported to be the most active<sup>75</sup>. I therefore chose the 500 bp form in an effort to reduce the possibility of duck RIG-I expression being too high in chicken cells that normally lack the receptor. The 500 bp form of the promoter was placed downstream of the 5' homology arm and upstream of the coding sequence of RIG-I (Figure 3.2).

In addition to duck RIG-I under the control of its own promoter, I included a fluorophore to be expressed with duck RIG-I to allow the use of fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) as a high-throughput screening method. I chose green fluorescent protein (GFP) to take advantage of the number of established techniques using this fluorophore. To control GFP I chose the *Human betaherpesvirus 5* "human cytomegalovirus" (HCMV or CMV) virus promoter, which confers high levels of activity to whichever gene it controls and thereby maximizes GFP expression in successfully transfected cells. Due to the size of the HDR template, transfection efficiencies were expected to be low, so a highly active fluorophore would in theory, maximize the FACS

yield of successfully transfected cells. The CMV/GFP cassette was placed downstream of the duck RIG-I promoter and coding sequence, but upstream of the 3' homology arm to ensure knock-in along with duck RIG-I (Figure 3.2).

Downstream of the 3' homology arm, outside the window of genes to be knockedin, is a negative selection mechanism comprised of the *Human alphaherpesvirus 1* (HSV) thymidine kinase gene (TK) and its endogenous promoter (Figure 3.2). The HSV TK cassette was placed upstream of the pCR2.1-TOPO backbone resulting in a circular vector (Figure 3.2).



**Figure 3.2. Schematic map of HDR template plasmid.** Duck RIG-I is driven by the 500 bp form of its native promoter. eGFP is driven by the human cytomegalovirus promoter. Herpes virus thymidine kinase is driven by its native promoter.

#### **3.2.3** Modifying eSpCas9(1.1) for use in an avian model.

To facilitate expression of a Cas9 enzyme in a chicken system we modified a commercially available Cas9 plasmid. Our group has observed a tendency of some mammalian promoters to not effectively drive gene expression in avian systems. In keeping with this, the plasmid from which eSpCas9(1.1) and its sgRNA would be expressed required modification. First to install the sgRNA sequence of choice, and second to replace the mammalian U6 promoter driving sgRNA expression with a chicken homolog.

In order to install the desired sgRNA sequence into the gRNA scaffold I attempted to use PCR and T4 ligation. Due to a 44 bp repeat in the commercial plasmid, immediately downstream of the sgRNA locus, PCR amplification was unsuccessful. The distance between each of the 44 bp repeat motifs was 38 bp, a distance small enough to make PCR amplification impractical as any polymerase used would fail to distinguish one motif from the other. This lack of fidelity resulted in amplicons which were duplicated, truncated, or absent completely. Furthermore, the 44 bp motif made excision of that particular sequence by restriction enzyme digestion impractical. A restriction enzyme whose target sequence lies in the 44 bp repeat motif would only recognize one site but not both or would not recognize either site at all. The 44 bp motif therefore prevented the modification of the sgRNA scaffold and made the installation of targeting sgRNA sequences impractical. I therefore decided to synthesize the sequence which coded for both the target sgRNA and the RNA scaffold required for Cas9 binding and insert the synthesized "targeting cassette" downstream of the U6 promoter (Figure 3.3).

To replace the mammalian U6 promoter which drives sgRNA and scaffold expression I chose to use a chicken derived homolog of U6. The use of avian U6 promoters for the purpose of expressing CRISPR sgRNA has been recently utilized for a CRISPR mediated knock-out in chicken DF-1 cells<sup>200</sup>. Of the 4 different chicken U6 promoters I chose promoter U6.3 as it has an ability to drive functional small RNAs in chicken cells<sup>201</sup>. The U6.3 promoter was placed upstream of the sgRNA and scaffold (Figure 3.3).



**Figure 3.3. Schematic map of Cas9 and sgRNA expression plasmid.** A commercially available eSpCas9(1.1) vector was modified to include a chicken derived U6.3 promoter and an sgRNA sequence targeted for the chicken Z chromosome.



# Figure 3.4. Schematic map and sequence of duck RIG-I knock-in sgRNA and sgRNA

**scaffold.** The chicken U6.3 promoter (394 bp) drives expression of the duck RIG-I knock-in sgRNA (20 bp) and sgRNA scaffold (76 bp) complex, as found in the avian adapted eSpCas9(1.1) plasmid.



**Figure 3.5. Sequence alignment of wild type hCMV enhancer/promoter and dRIG-I HDR template shows a 203 bp truncation of hCMV enhancer.** HDR template construction resulted in the deletion of 203 bp from the hMCV enhancer control element while the hCMV promoter remained intact. Sequences were generated using Sanger sequencing and primer walking. Contiguous sequences were constructed using DNAstar Lasergene software and aligned using the web based Clustal Omega tool.

### 3.3 Transient plasmid transfections

# **3.3.1 HDR template plasmid transient transfection shows plasmid uptake and GFP expression in wild-type DF-1 cells.**

To test whether the HDR template plasmid could be taken up by cells in the first place, I transiently transfected wild type DF-1 cells with 0.5  $\mu$ g, 1.0  $\mu$ g, 2.0  $\mu$ g, and 5.0  $\mu$ g of plasmid via lipofection. After 24 hr the cells were washed, fixed, stained, and imaged via confocal microscopy (Figure 3.5). Cells expressing GFP were seen at all concentrations of template plasmid showing that the plasmid was able to be transfected into DF-1 cells and genetic elements from the plasmid are expressed.



Figure 3.6. DF-1 cells transiently transfected with HDR template plasmid show expression of eGFP. Cells were seeded at a density of  $1.0 \times 10^5$  cells/mL and transfected with 2.5 µL Lipofectamine 2000/µg DNA. Cells were fixed and stained 24 hrs post transfection and imaged 48 hrs post transfection. Cells were fixed and stained with Hoechst nuclear stain 24 hrs post transfection. Cells were imaged under 1000x magnification, GFP fluorescence was observed at  $\lambda$ =509 nm.

**3.3.2** Activation dependent expression of 500bp duck RIG-I promoter in transiently transfected DF-1 cells.

To corroborate our groups earlier findings that a 500 bp form of the duck RIG-I promoter was sufficient to drive gene expression in DF-1 cells<sup>75</sup> I, with the help of an undergraduate student, constructed a plasmid with the fluorophore mCherry under the control of the 500 bp duck RIG-I promoter (Figure 3.6). We then transfected 1.0  $\mu$ g of this plasmid into DF-1 wild type cells via lipofection. No expression of the mCherry fluorophore was observed. We then repeated the transfection, however after 24 hours cells were transfected again with 1.0  $\mu$ g of high molecular weight poly (I:C), a synthetic dsRNA agonist of MDA5, to stimulate an interferon response and consequently the duck RIG-I promoter. 24 hours after stimulation, transfected cells were fixed and stained and imaged as previously described. Expression of the mCherry fluorophore was observed following stimulation of cells with poly (I:C) (Figure 3.7).



**Figure 3.7. Schematic map of mCherry/duck RIG-I promoter expression plasmid.** The CMV promoter and MCS of pcDNA3.1 was excised and replaced with a cassette containing the mCherry fluorophore under the control of the 500 bp duck RIG-I promoter. This plasmid was completed by Jordyn Pelechaty under my supervision.



Figure 3.8. DF-1 cells transiently transfected with duck RIG-I promoter reporter plasmid show expression of mCherry. Wild type DF-1 cells were transfected with 1.0  $\mu$ g of reporter plasmid. 24 hrs post transfection cells were stimulated with 1.0  $\mu$ g poly (I:C) 24 hrs prior to fixing and staining with Hoechst nuclear stain. Cells were imaged under 1000x magnification, mCherry fluorescence was observed at  $\lambda$ =587 nm. This work was done by undergraduate student Jordyn Pelechaty under my supervision.

# **3.3.3** Transient eSpCas9(1.1) plasmid transfection shows expression of Cas9 protein in DF-1 cells.

To examine whether the avian adapted eSpCas9(1.1) plasmid would work in DF-1 cells I transiently transfected 2.0  $\mu$ g of the Cas9 plasmid into DF-1 cells via lipofection. Wild type cells were also transfected with empty pcDNA3.1+ as a transfection control. After 24 hours cells were lysed and whole cell lysate was collected and prepared for a polyacrylamide gel and Western blot. Whole cell lysate was blotted with an  $\alpha$ -chicken actin primary antibody as well as an  $\alpha$ -Cas9 primary antibody, both were followed by incubation with goat- $\alpha$ -mouse secondary antibody. Wild type DF-1 cells showed no Cas9 protein whereas transfected cells were positive for Cas9 protein at the predicted size of 160 kDa (Figure 3.8). Both cell lysates displayed chicken  $\beta$ -actin protein expression (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.9. Wild type DF-1 cells transiently transfected with avian adapted eSpCas9(1.1) show expression of Cas9 protein. Whole cell lysate collected 24 hr post transfection shows expression of Cas9 protein detected by western blot.
**3.4** Fluorescence activated cell sorting and collection of GFP positive cells from DF-1 cells transfected with both HDR and avian eSpCas9(1.1).

To generate stably transfected DF-1 cells expressing both dRIG-I and GFP DF-1 cells were transfected with both the HDR template plasmid and the Cas9 plasmid simultaneously. Inclusion of GFP in the HDR template plasmid was expected to result in the expression of GFP at levels sufficient for sorting via FACS. DF-1 cells were transfected with 2.0 µg each of HDR template and avian eSpCas9(1.1) plasmids. Wild type DF-1 cells were also transfected with 2.0 µg of avian eSpCas9(1.1) alone as a transfection and autofluorescence control. 24 hours post-transfection cells were trypsinized and collected for FACS. HDR+/Cas9+ cells were sorted for GFP expression relative to autofluorescence of Cas9+ cells. 8000 cells were collected and returned to culture conditions for selection and propagation. Success of this transfection, as measured by the number of GFP+ cells in a sample, was 2.1% (Figure 3.9) however transfection success has been observed in other identical transfections ranging from 0.9% to 17.1%(Data not shown). These identical transfections were done to obtain a population of stably transfected cells which would survive and propagate. However, in each attempt (n=7), following FACS each set of cells died within 7-14 days post sort. The death of a sorted cell population resulted in the need to repeat the transfection, sort, and recovery protocol until a population of sorted cells were able to survive sorting and propagate to form a bulk transfected population.



Figure 3.10. DF-1 cells transfected with both HDR and Cas9 plasmids display GFP expression (B, D) while cells transfected with Cas9 plasmid alone do not (A, C). Scatter plots of parent groups from which cells were sorted (A, B). GFP+ cells appear in all three parent clusters of HDR+/Cas9+ cells but not Cas9+ (A, B). Histogram plots depict distribution of cells counted according to fluorescence intensity (C, D). Cas9+ cells were set as autofluorescence control (C). GFP fluorescence above Cas9+ control was seen in HDR+/Cas9+ cells (D). Distribution data was collected from a sample of 12,372 count-events with 261 registering as GFP+, suggesting a transfection success rate of 2.1%. 8,000 GFP+ cells in total were collected and returned to culture conditions.

#### **3.5** PCR of isolated clonal cell lines reveals exogenous DNA.

To determine whether each isolated clonal cell line had integrated DNA from the HDR plasmid, PCR was done on genomic DNA extracted from each cell line following isolation and propagation by limiting dilution. The presence of exogenous DNA in DF-1 cells would suggest an integration of HDR template DNA into the chicken genome.

To isolate individual transfected cells and grow clonal cell lines I resuspended cells to 5 cells/mL and aliquoted into 96-well plates in growth media containing 5  $\mu$ M GCV and allowed to propagate for ~3 weeks. During this 3-week incubation period all cell cultures ceased expressing GFP. After 3 weeks of growth under selection, 56 cell lines survived and were propagated to confluency. These 56 cell lines were transferred to

24-well plates under the same selection pressure and allowed to propagate to confluency for ~3 weeks. Of the 56 lines, 34 survived selection after 3 weeks.

To examine clonal cell lines for presence of exogenous DNA, we isolated genomic DNA from an aliquot of each clone. Duck RIG-I was amplified from the genomic DNA of 14 of the 34 cell lines. From each of the 34 cell lines chicken GAPDH was amplified. HSV TK was amplified from 32 cell lines. Of these 14, 12 survived subsequent passaging (Figure 3.10). Identity of amplified dRIG-I and HSV TK was confirmed by Sanger sequencing of PCR amplicons.

Gel electrophoresis of PCR amplicons may suggest that the amount of integration of HDR template DNA may not have been equal between all cell lines (Figure 3.10. Relative to each other, some cell lines (P2D5, P2A5, P1B4, P1B6) (Figure 3.10) show increased amplification of duck RIG-I DNA while others (P2D5, P2A1, P2C2, P2C4, P2A5, P1A2) (Figure 3.10) show increased amplification of HSV TK DNA. Whether this is the result of on/off target integrations, different copy numbers of integrated genes, or differences in polymerase amplification of transgene DNA are not yet discernable. However, it was observed that cell lines P2C5 and P2B1 showed no amplification of HSV TK DNA by PCR (Figure 3.10). Positive controls for PCR amplification of each target gene were included. The HDR plasmid was used as a positive control PCR template for the amplification of duck RIG-I and HSV TK. An aliquot of wild type DF-1 cell genomic DNA was used as a positive control PCR template for the amplification of chicken GAPDH. A PCR negative control was also included.



**Figure 3.11. Isolated clonal cell lines show presence of chicken duck RIG-I (A), HSV TK (B) and chicken GAPDH (C) in genomic DNA via PCR.** Each cell line survived GCV selection for ~6 weeks prior to gDNA extraction.

## 3.6 rtPCR and qPCR of transgene expression in CRISPR cell lines.

Cell lines were stimulated with 500 ng poly (I:C) + 250 ng RIG-I ligand via lipofection for 24 hrs after which, cells were collected, RNA was harvested, and cDNA was synthesized. qPCR showed amplification of chicken GAPDH from all 14 cell lines examined (Table 3.1). Chicken Mx-1 was not detected by qPCR in any cell lines (Table 3.1). Duck RIG-I was detected above background levels in DF-1 cells transfected with a pcDNA3.1 duck RIG-I overexpression promoter<sup>67</sup> but not detected above background in isolated clonal cell lines or wild type DF-1 (Table 3.1). HSV TK was not detected by rtPCR in any of the 12 isolated clonal cell lines (Data not shown).

**Table 3.1 qPCR quantitation values (triplicate) for chicken GAPDH, duck RIG-I, and chicken Mx-1 amplified from cDNA synthesized from total cellular mRNA.** Mean C<sub>T</sub> values (n=3) of each clonally isolated cell, wild type DF-1, and dRIG-I transfected DF-1 cells following qPCR amplification for chicken GAPDH, duck RIG-I, and chicken Mx-1.

	cGAPDH dRIG-I		G-I	cMx-1		
Cell Line	CTMean	StDev	CTMean	StDev	CTMean	StDev
P2C2	21.958	0.050	35.521	0.561	Undetected	N/A
P1B6	18.927	0.142	Undetected	N/A	Undetected	N/A
P1C6	20.878	0.496	Undetected	N/A	Undetected	N/A
P2B1	17.943	0.080	31.972	0.649	Undetected	N/A
P1A2	25.519	0.646	35.480	1.856	Undetected	N/A
P2A2	18.858	0.152	Undetected	N/A	Undetected	N/A
P2C5	19.733	0.190	36.262	0.839	Undetected	N/A
P2A5	18.930	0.067	Undetected	N/A	Undetected	N/A
P1B4	20.366	0.200	Undetected	N/A	Undetected	N/A
P2D5	19.187	0.160	Undetected	N/A	Undetected	N/A
P2B4	20.817	0.142	34.999	1.160	Undetected	N/A
P2C4	18.357	0.066	36.052	0.227	Undetected	N/A
<b>DF-1</b> w.t.	19.511	0.248	34.901	1.36	Undetected	N/A
DF-1 + pcDNA_RIG-I	16.847	0.476	17.544	1.71	Undetected	N/A

## **3.7** HSV TK and ganciclovir toxicity in DF-1 cell death assay.

To examine the efficacy of HSV TK in DF-1 cells in the presence of ganciclovir wild type DF-1 were transfected with 10 $\mu$ g HDR template plasmid 24 hrs prior to seeding. Wild type DF-1, HDR transfected DF-1, and CRISPR cell line P2D5 were seeded in 24 well flasks at 5.0x10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL and allowed to grow for 72 hrs. Growth media supernatant and adherent cells were collected for cell counting by trypan blue staining. Wild type DF-1 and P2D5 cells showed similar toxicity profiles with gradual decline in proportion of living cells up to 10  $\mu$ M ganciclovir, with sharp declines from 10  $\mu$ M to 20  $\mu$ M ganciclovir, there was no significant difference between the two (Figure 3.11). DF-1 transiently transfected with HDR plasmid showed significant decline in proportion of live cells beginning at 0.1  $\mu$ M ganciclovir (Figure 3.11). The largest difference between DF-1 and DF-1+HDR was observed at 10  $\mu$ M where DF-1 cells showed 63% survival whereas DF-1+HDR showed 20% (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.12. DF-1 cells transfected with HDR template plasmid appear more sensitive to ganciclovir than CRIPSR modified DF-1 or wild type DF-1 cells. DF-1 cells transiently transfected with HDR template plasmid show increased sensitivity to ganciclovir compared to wild type DF-1 cells or a representative CRISPR modified cell line, while a CRISPR modified cell line shows no difference in sensitivity from wild type DF-1 cells. DF-1 cells were transfected with 10  $\mu$ g HDR template plasmid 24 hrs prior to seeding. Cells were seeded at 5.0x10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL in growth media supplemented with varying concentrations of ganciclovir and allowed to grow for 72 hrs. Cells were collected and stained with 0.4% trypan blue prior to enumeration by haemocytometer. Data presented are mean values of triplicates, error bars represent one standard deviation about the mean. Asterisks indicate statistically significant difference as determined by Tukey's HSD (p < 0.01).

## **Chapter 4 Discussion.**

The first task of this work was to identify a locus on the chicken Z chromosome into which to knock duck RIG-I. This was done by examining where on the duck Z chromosome DDX58 was found. Due to the lack of comprehensive annotation of the duck genome the two closest genes to RIG-I, ACO1 and DGKQ were used as "landmarks" to identify the corresponding fragment on the chicken Z chromosome. From here, 2.5 kb sections of the Z chromosome were analyzed for sequence similarity to genes annotated in the NCBI genbank database using their BLAST search tool. Our goal was to identify a region of genomic DNA with no known genetic elements. Roughly one year after we identified a suitable 2.5 kb locus the chicken genome annotation was updated, and the region of DNA we had selected for knock-in was shown to be located in a cluster of genes of the MROH family. The MROH (maestro heat-like repeat) family is composed of a handful of genes with varying, and largely unknown, functions<sup>202</sup>. However, one member of the family, MROH4 has a domain that suggests mediation of protein-protein interactions and is involved in spermatogenesis in mice<sup>203</sup>. Although the proposed knockin locus lies in a cluster of MROH and MROH-like genes the 2.5 kb knock-in locus still showed no genetic elements of interest, and was for all intents and purposes suitable for the knock-in of a large DNA fragment. However, as genome annotations are continually updated and reorganized it may be that a reannotated or reorganized chicken Z chromosome may uncover some fragment of a RIG-I gene or homolog. This may be especially true in the case of the chicken Z chromosome as chromosomal breakpoints and rearrangements may make sequence validation and annotation more difficult and may allow for genetic elements to remain undetected or go unnoticed.

Chromosomal recombination and breakage events appear to be more common in avian species than in mammals<sup>238</sup>. The frequency of chromosomal recombination in birds suggests that chromosomal breakage and recombination events may be responsible for some factors impacting avian evolution<sup>238,239,240,241</sup>. Indeed, investigations by cytogenic mapping have determined several regions of chromosomal rearrangements when comparing ducks and chickens<sup>242</sup>. Furthermore, it was reported that chromosomal rearrangement events were present in chickens on chromosomes 1,2,4,7,8, and Z <sup>242</sup>.

The precise mechanism responsible for the apparent loss of RIG-I in chickens remains unclear. However, it may be likely that RIG-I was lost in chickens rather than a failing to be acquired during evolution. This may be partially explained by the synteny of the chicken and duck Z chromosomes (Figure 3.1) and the predisposition for chromosomal breakage and recombination events in birds. A lack of detectable RIG-I in the genome of red junglefowl, the progenitor to domesticated chickens, as well as frequent recombination events in birds suggests that RIG-I was lost from chickens during the 90-million-years of divergence from ducks.

The second objective of this work was to design and construct two plasmids suitable for the knock-in of duck RIG-I into the genome of chicken cells by homology directed repair. The isolation of the HDR plasmid components was done using Phusion hi-fidelity polymerase to reduce the chances of polymerase induced mutations. The only mutation observed in the construction of the HDR plasmid was a 203 bp deletion in the hCMV enhancer sequence upstream of eGFP. This sequence was not critical in the function of eGFP as the hCMV promoter was sufficient to drive eGFP expression. The deletion of 203 bp may likely have been caused by polymerase slippage, a process

whereby short or long repeats of DNA can form hairpin secondary structures that may be inaccessible to polymerase enzymes that cannot dissociate template DNA strands from one another during replication<sup>204</sup>. Phusion DNA polymerase, common in many Gibson assembly kits as well as being the hi-fidelity enzyme of choice used in my experiments, does not display strand displacement activity and therefore can be susceptible to polymerase slippage<sup>204</sup>.

Transient transfection of all three plasmids (HDR, Cas9, and mCherry) used in this work showed that each plasmid could be transfected into DF-1 cells via lipofection. My results further show that protein coding genes from these plasmids can be expressed in transfected cells. Furthermore, the expression of GFP in transfected cells was sufficient to differentiate and sort successfully transfected cells from non-transfected cells by FACS. As determined by FACS, the transfection efficiency of the HDR template plasmid varied from 0.9% to 17.1%.

Although transiently transfected cells express GFP at levels amenable for FACS these cells ceased expression of GFP  $\sim$  5 days into selection post-sort. Some loss of GFP expression in the selected population was to be expected as the plasmids delivered were relatively large and the transfection efficiencies were low. It was hypothesized that  $\sim$ 1% of transfected cells would have stably integrated GFP into their genome and would therefore continue to express it, while the majority of cells would have been only transiently transfected and therefore would lose GFP expression after  $\sim$ 7 days post transfection, as had been previously observed. However, what was not expected was that all cells post-sort would lose GFP expression. Of the several plausible explanations for the observed loss of fluorescence in transfected cells post-sort, one may be that the CMV

promoter is reportedly prone to silencing by methylation and is prevented from activating gene transcription both *in vitro* and *in vivo*<sup>205,206</sup>. Methylation of promoters, and in particular the CMV promoter, is reported to be a contributing factor to transgene silencing or decreased transgene transcription as early as 24 hours post transfection in some systems<sup>207</sup>. A second explanation of decreased GFP expression may be that due to the 203 bp deletion observed in the HDR plasmid (Figure 3.4) the CMV enhancer was truncated and therefore rendered non-viable. The truncation of the CMV enhancer may have reduced the potential for stronger GFP activation as the CMV enhancer increases CMV driven gene expression without being strictly necessary<sup>208,209</sup>.

The delayed silencing of GFP expression was not the only instance of a lack of transgene expression observed in transfected cells. Indeed, in successfully transfected and cultured cells I observed no expression of HSV TK by rtPCR, and no expression of dRIG-I by qPCR. A plausible explanation for a lack of expression of these genes may be methylation of transgene DNA.

The methylation status of the target knock-in region of the Z chromosome was not determined experimentally. The state of chromatin density was inferred from the genes adjacent to the target site, namely ACO1. ACO1 is an aconitase involved in the Krebs' cycle, a central cellular metabolic pathway<sup>194,195</sup>, and as such the chromatin around it should be open and readily accessed by transcription machinery. However, the state of neighbouring chromatin is no guarantee of the state of chromatin at the target knock-in locus. It would be beneficial to establish the methylation status of that particular region by bisulfite genome sequencing<sup>243</sup>. If it were determined that DNA methylation may

alleviate methylation related problems. Insulator sequences are DNA sequences that are reported to protect transgenes from silencing by DNA methylation or histone deacetylation<sup>244</sup>. The inclusion of insulator sequences and the determination of knock-in locus methylation status may be worth consideration if the methylation of transgenes was determined to be a cause of transgene silencing.

However an equally likely explanation for transgene silencing is that there may have been multiple copies of DNA from the HDR template knocked into DF-1 genomic DNA resulting in the formation of concatemers or a head-to-tail insertion rendering the knocked-in DNA silenced or transcriptionally non-active. The formation of concatemers, repetitive segments of genetic material, has been known to be a driver of transgene silencing in many species<sup>210,211,212</sup>. Concatemer formation may be a likely explanation for the silencing of multiple transgenes reported here. This may be supported by an observed difference in the amount of PCR amplicons generated during gDNA PCR, as the same number of PCR cycles was used for each reaction. It is also unlikely that the apparent variation in the amount of amplified DNA is the result of extrachromosomal DNA. Genomic DNA was harvested from clonally expanded cell lines after a total of approximately 5 weeks in culture after transfection with HDR and Cas9 plasmids. This long period of propagation included ~9 rounds of passaging to maintain healthy cell populations. It is unlikely that extrachromosomal copies of transgene DNA would persist after numerous cell passages.

Lack of expression by concatemer is supported by the presence of HSV TK in genomic DNA from transfected cells, as HSV TK DNA should only be present in cells that have undergone off-target DNA integration events; in which case the DNA from the

HDR template plasmid may not have been influenced by homology arm binding and therefore could have integrated into DF-1 genomic DNA in any location any number of times resulting in the formation of concatemers or head-to-tail knock-ins. However, due to a lack of whole genome sequence data and/or Southern blot data of transfected cells these explanations cannot be corroborated and would require further investigation.

The lack of expression of transgenes from stably transfected DF-1 cells does not necessarily imply that the individual components of the HDR template plasmid were nonfunctional in an avian system. Here I have demonstrated the components that comprise the HDR plasmid are fully functional in an avian system in a transient context. Furthermore, the presence of exogenous DNA in extracted genomic DNA from transfected cells suggests a successful knock-in of dRIG-I into DF-1 cells, albeit not as precisely as was desired.

The lack of transgene expression was demonstrated by qPCR analysis of duck RIG-I and chicken Mx-1 expression. CRISPR modified cell lines showed no expression of duck RIG-I above background by qPCR. The apparent amplification of some duck RIG-I transcript in any cells examined was likely a result of non-specific polymerase binding and amplification as amplicons that appear above the  $C_T$  threshold of 30-35 cycles cannot be counted in good faith as reliable on target amplicons. This is corroborated by the clearly detectable RIG-I signature in DF-1 cells transiently transfected with a pcDNA3.1 duck RIG-I expression vector, in which duck RIG-I is expressed under the control of the hCMV promoter. The hCMV promoter has been shown to be highly active in DF-1 cells in a transient expression context<sup>67</sup>. The activity of the hCMV promoter was corroborated when DF-1 cells were transiently transfected with

HDR template plasmid, and GFP expression was observed. Furthermore, chicken GAPDH was detected by qPCR in all cell lines as expected.

The expression of duck RIG-I may have also been impeded by a lack of an intron in the mRNA derived coding sequence in the HDR template plasmid. A lack of an intron in the coding sequence of dRIG-I may have led to errors in transgene expression. The presence of an intron in genomic DNA necessitates the splicing of pre-mRNA to form correctly translated mRNA<sup>213</sup>. This process is the same for every endogenously expressed gene in a cell. However, by excluding an intron from the dRIG-I coding sequence the need for correct splicing may have been negated. Failure to force transgene pre-mRNA through cellular splicing machinery may have resulted in lowered or non-existent transgene expression as introns in transgenes have been noted to increase transgene expression in several organisms<sup>214,215,216,217,218</sup>. Furthermore, the failure of transgene transcripts to be spliced may have rendered the host cell unable to detect transgene mRNA. Pre-mRNA that has been properly spliced in the nucleus will be accompanied by factors that help facilitate nuclear export<sup>219,220,221</sup>. In addition is has been reported that proper intron splicing is required for efficient nuclear export of intron containing mRNAs<sup>222</sup>. Therefore the lack of an intron in the coding sequence of dRIG-I may have prevented transgene expression at two levels, the lack of an intron itself and the lack of an intron to initiate pre-mRNA splicing and maturation may have inhibited transgene mRNA recognition and/or nuclear export.

Chicken Mx-1 was not detected in any cell line. This result may be explained by a failure of poly(I:C) or a RIG-I agonist to activate IFN signalling in transfected cells. The lack of expression of duck RIG-I in CRISPR modified cell lines as an explanation for no

observed Mx-1 expression may also be discounted as the expression of duck RIG-I in pcDNA3.1 RIG-I transfected cells made no difference in the detection of Mx-1 when exposed to the same poly(I:C) and RIG-I agonist by lipofection. This suggests that the lack of detection of Mx-1 may have been a result of experimental error, either through amplification or detection failure.

## **Chapter 5 Conclusions and Future Directions.**

In this proof of principle work, I report the initial successes and areas for refinement in the use of CRISPR/Cas9 two-plasmid homology directed repair for the knock-in of duck RIG-I into the genome of DF-1 cells at a specific target locus. Here I have demonstrated that an assembly of a large plasmid containing multiple genes under the control of multiple different promoters can be transfected into, and transiently expressed in DF-1 cells. Furthermore, I have shown that the individual components of an HDR template plasmid: 500 bp duck RIG-I promoter, eGFP, HSV TK, and HSV TK promoter are functional in DF-1 cells, and that eSpCas9 can be expressed in DF-1 cells in a transient context.

Transient transfections are not the intended purpose of the plasmids created here however. The purpose of the HDR template and avian adapted Cas9 plasmids were to facilitate the knock-in of two genes, dRIG-I and eGFP, into the genome of DF-1 cells at a precise locus. Here I have shown that the two-plasmid system employed is sufficient to knock multiple genes into the genome of chicken cells, demonstrating a potential utility of this approach for the generation of cell lines in a laboratory. However, when examined in the context of whole organism genome modification the shortcomings of this approach render it non-viable. The relatively low transfection efficiency, high rate of off-target knock-in, long selection period, and unstable expression of knocked-in transgenes suggests that co-delivery of a Cas9 and HDR template plasmid by lipofection is not appropriate for the generation of transgenic organisms. However, the materials and techniques presented here show promise for use in a different approach. The HSV TK and GCV inducible suicide system was shown to work in DF-1 cells, the expression of

GFP in DF-1 cells is amenable to FACS, the expression of Cas9 protein suggests a viable approach to genome editing in DF-1 cells, and the ability to knock-in large pieces of foreign DNA ( $> \sim$ 5kb) has been initially investigated in DF-1 cells.

To more fully understand the mechanics of the genome modifications presented here there are two further experiments which would fill in the remaining knowledge gaps, those being a Southern blot and whole genome sequencing. The exact number of copies of transgenes present in stably transfected DF-1 cells is currently unknown. The use of Southern blot to determine copy number and relative genomic position of knock-in would show which cells underwent concatemeric knock-in. Whole genome sequencing of transfected cells would allow for the absolute genomic position and sequence of transgenes to be studied and inferences regarding the efficiency of the HDR knock-in process in DF-1 cells could be made.

Furthermore, a change in the basic strategy of plasmid delivery may prove to be a more efficient and reliable option. The technologies for lentiviral transfections for the delivery of transgenes and CRISPR machinery have been growing in ease of use, breadth of compatible organisms, and market availability<sup>223,224</sup>. The use of a lentiviral vector may improve on the shortcomings of a lipofection based transfection strategy, as lentiviral transfection already encompasses the machinery needed for stable knock-ins.

Additionally, different CRISPR approaches may be investigated for their appropriateness. For instance, rather than blunt ended DSBs a Cas9 double nickase may be employed to lower the possibility of aberrant DSB repair by spacing out breaks in host genomic DNA. The length of homology arms could also be adjusted to facilitate better fidelity of DNA directing the knock-in of large fragments of DNA. Optimization of

homology arm length would allow for the design of HDR template plasmids with minimally sized genes of interest. In keeping with this the size of the template DNA fragment could be lowered by perhaps using a multiple knock-in strategy. A multiple knock-in strategy could be used to simultaneously deliver both duck RIG-I and GFP from separate HDR templates or cassettes. Thereby decreasing the size of transgene DNA integrated into the genome at each particular locus.

In addition to altering the delivery method of template DNA, changing the form of Cas9 host genome cleavage, the use of multiple sgRNAs could be implemented. This would be a rather involved approach as the use of multiple sgRNAs and therefore multiple DSB or double nick sites would necessitate the use of multiple pairs of homology arms to facilitate accurate HDR. However, the use of multiple sgRNAs may provide for more chances to correctly knock duck RIG-I into the chicken genome.

The work presented here is a proof of principle exploration into the knock-in of large DNA fragments containing multiple genes into a precise locus in the chicken Z chromosome. The information gathered here will hopefully guide further research into chicken transgenics along a more effective and informed path.

# **References.**

- Kawaoka Y, Neumann G. Influenza Viruses: An Introduction. In: Kawaoka Y, Neumann G, eds. *Influenza Virus*. Vol 865. Humana Press; 2012:1-9. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-621-0\_1
- 2. Webster, R. G., Bean, W. J., Gorman, O. T., Chambers, T. M., & Kawaoka, Y. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. *Microbiol rev.* 56(1), 152-179.
- 3. Burgos S, A. Burgos S. Influenza a viruses in poultry: a condensed review. *Int J Poult Sci.* 2007;6(10):705-708. doi:10.3923/ijps.2007.705.708
- 4. Leser GP, Lamb RA. Lateral organization of influenza virus proteins in the budozone region of the plasma membrane. Lyles DS, ed. *J Virol*. 2017;91(9):2104-2116. doi:10.1128/JVI.02104-16
- 5. Dou D, Revol R, Östbye H, Wang H, Daniels R. Influenza a virus cell entry, replication, virion assembly and movement. *Front Immunol*. 2018;9:1581. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01581
- 6. Du R, Cui Q, Rong L. Competitive cooperation of hemagglutinin and neuraminidase during influenza a virus entry. *Viruses*. 2019;11(5):458. doi:10.3390/v11050458
- 7. Krauss S, Webster RG. Avian influenza virus surveillance and wild birds: past and present. *Avian Dis.* 2010;54(s1):394-398. doi:10.1637/8703-031609-Review.1
- Tong S, Zhu X, Li Y, Shi M, Zhang J, Bourgeois M, Yang H, Chen X, Recuenco S, Gomez J, Chen L-M, Johnson A, Tao Y, Dreyfus C, Yu W, McBride R, Carney PJ, Gilbert AT, Chang J, Guo Z, Davis CT, Paulson JC, Stevens J, Rupprecht CE, Holmes EC, Wilson IA, Donis RO. New world bats harbor diverse influenza a viruses. Subbarao K, ed. *PLoS Pathog.* 2013;9(10):e1003657. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003657
- 9. Sang Y, Liu Q, Lee J, Ma W, McVey DS, Blecha F. Expansion of amphibian intronless interferons revises the paradigm for interferon evolution and functional diversity. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):29072. doi:10.1038/srep29072
- Claas EC, Osterhaus AD, van Beek R, De Jong JC, Rimmelzwaan GF, Senne DA, Krauss S, Shortridge KF, Webster RG. Human influenza A H5N1 virus related to a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. *The Lancet*. 1998;351(9101):472-477. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(97)11212-0
- 11. Emergence of a novel swine-origin influenza a (H1N1) virus in humans. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;360(25):2605-2615. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0903810
- Taubenberger JK, Reid AH, Lourens RM, Wang R, Jin G, Fanning TG. Characterization of the 1918 influenza virus polymerase genes. *Nature*. 2005;437(7060):889-893. doi:10.1038/nature04230

- 13. Alexander DJ. A review of avian influenza in different bird species. *Vet Microbiol*. 2000;74(1-2):3-13. doi:10.1016/s0378-1135(00)00160-7.
- 14. Fodor E, Pritlove DC, Brownlee GG. The influenza virus panhandle is involved in the initiation of transcription. *J Virol.* 1994;68(6):4092-4096.
- Liu G, Park H-S, Pyo H-M, Liu Q, Zhou Y. Influenza a virus panhandle structure is directly involved in rig-i activation and interferon induction. Lyles DS, ed. *J Virol*. 2015;89(11):6067-6079. doi:10.1128/JVI.00232-15
- Ferhadian D, Contrant M, Printz-Schweigert A, Smyth RP, Paillart J-C, Marquet R. Structural and functional motifs in influenza virus RNAs. *Front Microbiol*. 2018;9:559. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.00559
- Anchisi S, Guerra J, Mottet-Osman G, Garcin D. Mismatches in the influenza a virus RNA panhandle prevent retinoic acid-inducible gene i (RIG-I) sensing by impairing RNA/RIG-I complex formation. García-Sastre A, ed. *J Virol*. 2016;90(1):586-590. doi:10.1128/JVI.01671-15
- Kim J-K, Negovetich NJ, Forrest HL, Webster RG. Ducks: The "Trojan Horses" of H5N1 influenza. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*. 2009;3(4):121-128. doi:10.1111/j.1750-2659.2009.00084.x
- Sturm-Ramirez KM, Ellis T, Bousfield B, Bissett L, Dyrting K, Rehg JE, Poon L, Guan Y, Peiris M, Webster RG. Reemerging h5n1 influenza viruses in hong kong in 2002 are highly pathogenic to ducks. *J Virol*. 2004;78(9):4892-4901. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.9.4892-4901.2004
- 20. Akira S, Takeda K. Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2004;4(7):499-511. doi:10.1038/nri1391
- 21. Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nat Immunol.* 2004;5(10):987-995. doi:10.1038/ni1112
- 22. Alcaide M, Edwards SV. Molecular evolution of the toll-like receptor multigene family in birds. *Mol Biol Evol*. 2011;28(5):1703-1715. doi:10.1093/molbev/msq351
- MacDonald MRW, Xia J, Smith AL, Magor KE. The duck toll like receptor 7: Genomic organization, expression and function. *Mol Immunol*. 2008;45(7):2055-2061. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2007.10.018
- 24. Alexopolulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavel RA. Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-κB by Toll-like receptor 3. *Lett Nature*. 2001; 413(6875)732-738. doi:10.1038/35099560
- 25. MacDonald MRW, Veniamin SM, Guo X, Xia J, Moon DA, Magor KE. Genomics of antiviral defenses in the duck, a natural host of influenza and hepatitis B viruses. *Cytogenet Genome Res.* 2007;117(1-4):195-206. doi:10.1159/000103180

- Kawai T, Sato S, Ishii KJ, Coban C, Hemmi H, Yamamoto M, Terai K, Matsuda M, Inoue J, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O, Akira S. Interferon-α induction through Toll-like receptors involves a direct interaction of IRF7 with MyD88 and TRAF6. *Nat Immunol*. 2004;5(10):1061-1068. doi:10.1038/ni1118
- 27. Heil F. Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. *Science*. 2004;303(5663):1526-1529. doi:10.1126/science.1093620
- Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, Horiuchi T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K, Akira S. Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88–dependent signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol*. 2002;3(2):196-200. doi:10.1038/ni758
- 29. Baeuerle PA, Henkel T. Function and activation of NF-κB in the immune system. *Annu rev immunol*. 1994;12:141-149
- 30. Krug RM, Shaw M, Broni B, Shapiro G, Haller O. Inhibition of influenza viral mRNA synthesis in cells expressing the interferon-induced mx gene product. *J VIROL*. 1985;56:6.
- Gack MU, Shin YC, Joo C-H, Urano T, Liang C, Sun L, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Chen Z, Inoue S, Jung JU. TRIM25 RING-finger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-Imediated antiviral activity. *Nature*. 2007;446(7138):916-920. doi:10.1038/nature05732
- Kawai T, Sato S, Ishii KJ, Coban C, Hemmi H, Yamamoto M, Terai K, Matsuda M, Inoue J, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O, Akira S. Interferon-α induction through Toll-like receptors involves a direct interaction of IRF7 with MyD88 and TRAF6. *Nat Immunol.* 2004;5(10):1061-1068. doi:10.1038/ni1118
- Philpott DJ, Sorbara MT, Robertson SJ, Croitoru K, Girardin SE. NOD proteins: regulators of inflammation in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2014;14(1):9-23. doi:10.1038/nri3565
- 34. Jacobs SR, Damania B. NLRs, inflammasomes, and viral infection. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2012;92(3):469-477. doi:10.1189/jlb.0312132
- 35. Motta V, Soares F, Sun T, Philpott DJ. NOD-Like Receptors: versatile cytosolic sentinels. *Physiol Rev.* 2015;95(1):149-178. doi:10.1152/physrev.00009.2014
- Zhao Y, Yang J, Shi J, Gong Y-N, Lu Q, Xu H, Liu L, Shao F. The NLRC4 inflammasome receptors for bacterial flagellin and type III secretion apparatus. *Nature*. 2011;477(7366):596-600. doi:10.1038/nature10510
- 37. Yamasaki K, Muto J, Taylor KR, Cogen AL, Audish D, Bertin J, Grant EP, Coyle AJ, Misaghi A, Hoffman HM, Gallo RL. NLRP3/Cryopyrin is necessary for interleukin-1β (il-1β) release in response to hyaluronan, an endogenous trigger of inflammation in response to injury. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284(19):12762-12771. doi:10.1074/jbc.M806084200

- Yazdi AS, Guarda G, Riteau N, Drexler SK, Tardivel A, Couillin I, Tschopp J. Nanoparticles activate the NLR pyrin domain containing 3 (Nlrp3) inflammasome and cause pulmonary inflammation through release of IL-1 and IL-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 2010;107(45):19449-19454. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008155107
- Boyle JP, Mayle S, Parkhouse R, Monie TP. Comparative genomic and sequence analysis provides insight into the molecular functionality of NOD1 and NOD2. *Front Immunol*. 2013;4. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00317
- 40. Moreira LO, Zamboni DS. NOD1 and NOD2 signaling in infection and inflammation. *Front Immunol.* 2012;3. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00328
- Maekawa S, Ohto U, Shibata T, Miyake K, Shimizu T. Crystal structure of NOD2 and its implications in human disease. *Nat Commun.* 2016;7(1):11813. doi:10.1038/ncomms11813
- 42. Sabbah A, Chang TH, Harnack R, Frohlich V, Tominaga K, Dube PH, Xiang Y, Bose S. Activation of innate immune antiviral responses by Nod2. *Nat Immunol.* 2009;10(10):1073-1080. doi:10.1038/ni.1782
- 43. Jo E-K, Kim JK, Shin D-M, Sasakawa C. Molecular mechanisms regulating NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Cell Mol Immunol*. 2016;13(2):148-159. doi:10.1038/cmi.2015.95
- 44. Joly S, Sutterwala FS. Fungal pathogen recognition by the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Virulence*. 2010;1(4):276-280. doi:10.4161/viru.1.4.11482
- 45. Ichinohe T, Pang IK, Iwasaki A. Influenza virus activates inflammasomes via its intracellular M2 ion channel. *Nat Immunol.* 2010;11(5):404-410. doi:10.1038/ni.1861
- 46. Manzoor R, Igarashi M, Takada A. Influenza A Virus M2 Protein: roles from ingress to egress. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(12):2649. doi:10.3390/ijms18122649
- McAuley JL, Tate MD, MacKenzie-Kludas CJ, Pinar A, Zeng W, Stutz A, Latz E, Brown LE, Mansell A. Activation of the NLRP3 Inflammasome by IAV Virulence Protein PB1-F2 Contributes to Severe Pathophysiology and Disease. Gack MU, ed. *PLoS Pathog*. 2013;9(5):e1003392. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003392
- 48. Zamarin D, García-Sastre A, Xiao X, Wang R, Palese P. Influenza virus PB1-F2 protein induces cell death through mitochondrial ant3 and vdac1. *PLoS Pathog*. 2005;1(1):e4. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0010004
- 49. Allen IC, Scull MA, Moore CB, Holl EK, McElvania-TeKippe E, Taxman DJ, Guthrie EH, Pickles RJ, Ting JP-Y. The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates in vivo innate immunity to influenza a virus through recognition of viral rna. *Immunity*. 2009;30(4):556-565. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.02.005
- 50. Ryan GB, Majno G. Acute inflammation. Am J Pathol. 1977;86(1)185-274.

- 51. Larsen GL, Henson PM. Mediators of inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol. 1983;1:335-359
- 52. Medzhitov R. Inflammation 2010: New Adventures of an old flame. *Cell*. 2010;140(6):771-776. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.006
- 53. Hanada T, Yoshimura A. Regulation of cytokine signaling and inflammation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2002;13(4-5):413-421. doi:10.1016/S1359-6101(02)00026-6
- 54. Smith JA. Neutrophils, host defense, and inflammation: a double-edged sword. *J Leukoc Biol.* 1994;56(6):672-86. doi: 10.1002/jlb.56.6.672.
- 55. Hagau N, Slavcovici A, Gonganau DN, Oltean S, Dirzu DS, Brezoszki ES, Maxim M, Ciuce C, Mlesnite M, Gavrus RL, Laslo C, Hagau R, Petrescu M, Studnicska DM. Clinical aspects and cytokine response in severe H1N1 influenza A virus infection. *Crit Care*. 2010;14(6):R203. doi:10.1186/cc9324
- 56. Burggraaf S, Karpala AJ, Bingham J, Lowther S, Selleck P, Kimpton W, Bean AGD. H5N1 infection causes rapid mortality and high cytokine levels in chickens compared to ducks. *Virus Res.* 2014;185:23-31. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2014.03.012
- 57. Cagle C, Wasilenko J, Adams SC, Cardona CJ, To TL, Nguyen T, Spackman E, Suarez DL, Smith D, Shepherd E, Roth J, Pantin-Jackwood MJ. Differences in pathogenicity, response to vaccination, and innate immune responses in different types of ducks infected with a virulent h5n1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus from vietnam. Published online 2012:3.
- 58. Fleming-Canepa X, Aldridge JR, Canniff L, Kobewka M, Jax E, Webster RG, Magor KE. Duck innate immune responses to high and low pathogenicity H5 avian influenza viruses. *Vet Microbiol.* 2019;228:101-111. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.11.018
- 59. Kobayashi Y, Horimoto T, Kawaoka Y, Alexander DJ, Itakura C. Pathological studies of chickens experimentally infected with two highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses. *Avian Pathol.* 1996;25(2):285-304. doi:10.1080/03079459608419142
- 60. Kobayashi Y, Horimoto T, Kawaoka Y, Alexander DJ, Itakura C. Pathological studies of chickens experimentally infected with two highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses. *Avian Pathol.* 1996;25(2):285-304. doi:10.1080/03079459608419142
- 61. Woolcock PR, Suarez DL, Kuney D. Low-pathogenicity avian influenza virus (H6N2) in chickens in California, 2000–02. *Avian Dis*. 2003;47(s3):872-881. doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.872
- Subtain SM, Chaudhry ZI, Anjum AA, Maqbool A, Sadique U. Study on pathogenesis of low pathogenic avian influenza virus H9 in broiler chickens. *Pakistan J. Zool.* 2011;43(5):999-1008.
- 63. Kuchipudi SV, Tellabati M, Sebastian S, Londt BZ, Jansen C, Vervelde L, Brookes SM, Brown IH, Dunham SP, Chang K-C. Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus infection in

chickens but not ducks is associated with elevated host immune and pro-inflammatory responses. *Vet Res.* 2014;45(1):118. doi:10.1186/s13567-014-0118-3

- 64. Teijaro JR, Walsh KB, Rice S, Rosen H, Oldstone MBA. Mapping the innate signaling cascade essential for cytokine storm during influenza virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2014;111(10):3799-3804. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400593111
- 65. Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Natsukawa T, Shinobu N, Imaizumi T, Miyagishi M, Taira K, Akira S, Fujita T. The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. *Nat Immunol.* 2004;5(7):730-737. doi:10.1038/ni1087
- 66. Kowalinski E, Lunardi T, McCarthy AA, Louber J, Brunel J, Grigorov B, Gerlier D, Cusack S. Structural basis for the activation of innate immune pattern-recognition receptor RIG-I by viral RNA. *Cell*. 2011;147(2):423-435. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.039
- 67. Barber MRW, Aldridge JR, Webster RG, Magor KE. Association of RIG-I with innate immunity of ducks to influenza. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2010;107(13):5913-5918. doi:10.1073/pnas.1001755107
- 68. Lu C, Xu H, Ranjith-Kumar CT, Brooks MT, Hou TY, Hu F, Herr AB, Strong RK, Kao CC, Li P. The structural basis of 5' triphosphate double-stranded RNA recognition by RIG-I C-terminal domain. *Structure*. 2010;18(8):1032-1043. doi:10.1016/j.str.2010.05.007
- 69. Wang Y, Ludwig J, Schuberth C, Goldeck M, Schlee M, Li H, Juranek S, Sheng G, Micura R, Tuschl T, Hartmann G, Patel DJ. Structural and functional insights into 5'-ppp RNA pattern recognition by the innate immune receptor RIG-I. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 2010;17(7):781-787. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1863
- 70. Schlee M, Roth A, Hornung V, Hagmann CA, Wimmenauer V, Barchet W, Coch C, Janke M, Mihailovic A, Wardle G, Juranek S, Kato H, Kawai T, Poeck H, Fitzgerald KA, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Tuschl T, Latz E, Ludwig J, Hartmann G. Recognition of 5' triphosphate by RIG-I helicase requires short blunt double-stranded RNA as contained in panhandle of negative-strand virus. *Immunity*. 2009;31(1):25-34. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.05.008
- 71. Choi MK, Wang Z, Ban T, Yanai H, Lu Y, Koshiba R, Nakaima Y, Hangai S, Savitsky D, Nakasato M, Negishi H, Takeuchi O, Honda K, Akira S, Tamura T, Taniguchi T. A selective contribution of the RIG-I-like receptor pathway to type I interferon responses activated by cytosolic DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2009;106(42):17870-17875. doi:10.1073/pnas.0909545106
- 72. Desselberger U, Racaniello VR, Zazra JJ, Palese P. The 3' and 5'-terminal sequences of influenza A, B and C virus RNA segments are highly conserved and show partial inverted complementarity. *Gene*. 1980;8(3):315-328. doi:10.1016/0378-1119(80)90007-4
- 73. Fodor E, Pritlove DC, Brownlee GG. The influenza virus panhandle is involved in the initiation of transcription. *J Virol.* 1994;68(6):4092-4096.

- 74. Liu G, Park H-S, Pyo H-M, Liu Q, Zhou Y. Influenza A virus panhandle structure is directly involved in RIG-I activation and interferon induction. Lyles DS, ed. *J Virol*. 2015;89(11):6067-6079. doi:10.1128/JVI.00232-15
- 75. Xiao Y, Reeves MB, Caulfield AF, Evseev D, Magor KE. The core promoter controls basal and inducible expression of duck retinoic acid inducible gene-I (RIG-I). *Mol Immunol.* 2018;103:156-165. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2018.09.002
- Liu G, Lu Y, Thulasi Raman SN, Xu F, Wu Q, Li Z, Brownlie R, Liu Q, Zhou Y. Nuclearresident RIG-I senses viral replication inducing antiviral immunity. *Nat Commun*. 2018;9(1):3199. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-05745-w
- 77. Fleming-Canepa X, Aldridge JR, Canniff L, Kobewka M, Jax E, Webster RG, Magor KE. Duck innate immune responses to high and low pathogenicity H5 avian influenza viruses. *Vet Microbiol.* 2019;228:101-111. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.11.018
- Barber MRW, Aldridge JR, Fleming-Canepa X, Wang Y-D, Webster RG, Magor KE. Identification of avian RIG-I responsive genes during influenza infection. *Mol Immunol*. 2013;54(1):89-97. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2012.10.038
- 79. Loo Y-M, Fornek J, Crochet N, Bajwa G, Perwitasari O, Martinez-Sobrido L, Akira S, Gill MA, Garcia-Sastre A, Katze MG, Gale M. Distinct RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by rna viruses in innate immunity. *J Virol*. 2008;82(1):335-345. doi:10.1128/JVI.01080-07
- Cheng Y, Huang Q, Ji W, Du B, Fu Q, An H, Li J, Wang H, Yan Y, Ding C, Sun J. Muscovy duck retinoic acid-induced gene I (MdRIG-I) functions in innate immunity against H9N2 avian influenza viruses (AIV) infections. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*. 2015;163(3-4):183-193. doi:10.1016/j.vetimm.2014.12.009
- 81. Kato H, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Yoneyama M, Yamamoto M, Matsui K, Uematsu S, Jung A, Kawai T, Ishii KJ, Yamaguchi O, Otsu K, Tsujimura T, Koh C-S, Reis e Sousa C, Matsuura Y, Fujita T, Akira S. Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. *Nature*. 2006;441(7089):101-105. doi:10.1038/nature04734
- Takahasi K, Kumeta H, Tsuduki N, Narita R, Shigemoto T, Hirai R, Yoneyama M, Horiuchi M, Ogura K, Fujita T, Inagaki F. Solution structures of cytosolic RNA sensor MDA5 and LGP2 C-terminal domains: identification of the RNA recognition loop in RIG-I-like receptors. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284(26):17465-17474. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.007179
- 83. Kato H, Takeuchi O, Mikamo-Satoh E, Hirai R, Kawai T, Matsushita K, Hiiragi A, Dermody TS, Fujita T, Akira S. Length-dependent recognition of double-stranded ribonucleic acids by retinoic acid–inducible gene-I and melanoma differentiation– associated gene 5. *J Exp Med.* 2008;205(7):1601-1610. doi:10.1084/jem.20080091
- 84. Peisley A, Jo MH, Lin C, Wu B, Orme-Johnson M, Walz T, Hohng S, Hur S. Kinetic mechanism for viral dsRNA length discrimination by MDA5 filaments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 2012;109(49):E3340-E3349. doi:10.1073/pnas.1208618109

- 85. Wu B, Peisley A, Richards C, Yao H, Zeng X, Lin C, Chu F, Walz T, Hur S. Structural basis for dsRNA recognition, filament formation, and antiviral signal activation by MDA5. *Cell*. 2013;152(1-2):276-289. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.048
- 86. Wei L, Cui J, Song Y, Zhang S, Han F, Yuan R, Gong L, Jiao P, Liao M. Duck MDA5 functions in innate immunity against H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus infections. *Vet Res.* 2014;45(1):66. doi:10.1186/1297-9716-45-66
- Liniger M, Summerfield A, Zimmer G, McCullough KC, Ruggli N. Chicken cells sense influenza A virus infection through MDA5 and CARDIF Signaling Involving LGP2. J Virol. 2012;86(2):705-717. doi:10.1128/JVI.00742-11
- 88. Hayashi T, Watanabe C, Suzuki Y, Tanikawa T, Uchida Y, Saito T. Chicken MDA5 senses short double-stranded RNA with implications for antiviral response against avian influenza viruses in chicken. *J Innate Immun.* 2014;6(1):58-71. doi:10.1159/000351583
- 89. Murali A, Li X, Ranjith-Kumar CT, Bhardwaj K, Holzenburg A, Li P, Kao CC. Structure and function of LGP2, a DE *X* (D/H) helicase that regulates the innate immunity response. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283(23):15825-15833. doi:10.1074/jbc.M800542200
- 90. Satoh T, Kato H, Kumagai Y, Yoneyama M, Sato S, Matsushita K, Tsujimura T, Fujita T, Akira S, Takeuchi O. LGP2 is a positive regulator of RIG-I- and MDA5-mediated antiviral responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2010;107(4):1512-1517. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912986107
- 91. Rothenfusser S, Goutagny N, DiPerna G, Gong M, Monks BG, Schoenemeyer A, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Fitzgerald KA. The RNA helicase LGP2 inhibits TLRindependent sensing of viral replication by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I. *J Immunol*. 2005;175(8):5260-5268. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.8.5260
- 92. Saito T, Hirai R, Loo Y-M, Owen D, Johnson CL, Sinha SC, Akira S, Fujita T, Gale M. Regulation of innate antiviral defenses through a shared repressor domain in RIG-I and LGP2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2007;104(2):582-587. doi:10.1073/pnas.0606699104
- 93. Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Matsumoto K, Imaizumi T, Miyagishi M, Taira K, Foy E, Loo Y-M, Gale M, Akira S, Yonehara S, Kato A, Fujita T. Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-Box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. *J Immunol.* 2005;175(5):2851-2858. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.5.2851
- 94. Bruns AM, Leser GP, Lamb RA, Horvath CM. The innate immune sensor LGP2 activates antiviral signaling by regulating MDA5-RNA interaction and filament assembly. *Mol Cell*. 2014;55(5):771-781. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.07.003
- 95. Deddouche S, Goubau D, Rehwinkel J, Chakravarty P, Begum S, Maillard PV, Borg A, Matthews N, Feng Q, van Kuppeveld FJM, Reis e Sousa C. Identification of an LGP2associated MDA5 agonist in picornavirus-infected cells. *eLife*. 2014;3:e01535. doi:10.7554/eLife.01535

- 96. Uchikawa E, Lethier M, Malet H, Brunel J, Gerlier D, Cusack S. Structural analysis of dsRNA binding to anti-viral pattern recognition receptors LGP2 and MDA5. *Mol Cell*. 2016;62(4):586-602. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2016.04.021
- 97. Veen AG, Maillard PV, Schmidt JM, Lee SA, Deddouche-Grass S, Borg A, Kjær S, Snijders AP, Reis e Sousa C. The RIG-I-like receptor LGP2 inhibits DICER-dependent processing of long double-stranded RNA and blocks RNA interference in mammalian cells. *EMBO J.* 2018;37(4). doi:10.15252/embj.201797479
- 98. Seo GJ, Kincaid RP, Phanaksri T, Burke JM, Pare JM, Cox JE, Hsiang T-Y, Krug RM, Sullivan CS. Reciprocal inhibition between intracellular antiviral signaling and the RNAi machinery in mammalian cells. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2013;14(4):435-445. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.09.002
- 99. Peisley A, Wu B, Yao H, Walz T, Hur S. RIG-I forms signaling-competent filaments in an ATP-dependent, ubiquitin-independent manner. *Mol Cell*. 2013;51(5):573-583. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.07.024
- 100. Peisley A, Wu B, Xu H, Chen ZJ, Hur S. Structural basis for ubiquitin-mediated antiviral signal activation by RIG-I. *Nature*. 2014;509(7498):110-114. doi:10.1038/nature13140
- 101. Sanchez JG, Chiang JJ, Sparrer KMJ, Alam SL, Chi M, Roganowicz MD, Sankaran B, Gack MU, Pornillos O. Mechanism of TRIM25 catalytic activation in the antiviral RIG-I pathway. *Cell Rep.* 2016;16(5):1315-1325. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.06.070
- Belgnaoui SM, Paz S, Hiscott J. Orchestrating the interferon antiviral response through the mitochondrial antiviral signaling (MAVS) adapter. *Curr Opin Immunol*. 2011;23(5):564-572. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.08.001
- 103. Park S, Juliana C, Hong S, Datta P, Hwang I, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Yu J-W, Alnemri ES. The mitochondrial antiviral protein MAVS associates with NLRP3 and regulates its inflammasome activity. *J Immunol*. 2013;191(8):4358-4366. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301170
- 104. Subramanian N, Natarajan K, Clatworthy MR, Wang Z, Germain RN. The adaptor MAVS Promotes NLRP3 mitochondrial localization and inflammasome activation. *Cell*. 2013;153(2):348-361. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.054
- 105. Huang B, Qi ZT, Xu Z, Nie P. Global characterization of interferon regulatory factor (IRF) genes in vertebrates: Glimpse of the diversification in evolution. *BMC Immunol*. 2010;11(1):22. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-11-22
- 106. Zhang L, Pagano JS. Review: structure and function of IRF-7. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*. 2002;22(1):95-101. doi:10.1089/107999002753452700
- 107. Brisse M, Ly H. Comparative structure and function analysis of the RIG-I-like receptors: RIG-I and MDA5. *Front Immunol*. 2019;10:1586. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01586

- 108. Cui X-F, Imaizumi T, Yoshida H, Borden EC, Satoh K. Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I is induced by interferon-γ and regulates the expression of interferon-γ stimulated gene 15 in MCF-7 cells. *Biochem Cell Biol*. 2004;82(3):401-405. doi:10.1139/o04-041
- Errett JS, Suthar MS, McMillan A, Diamond MS, Gale M. The essential, nonredundant roles of RIG-I and MDA5 in detecting and controlling west nile virus infection. *J Virol*. 2013;87(21):11416-11425. doi:10.1128/JVI.01488-13
- 110. Chazal M, Beauclair G, Gracias S, Najburg V, Simon-Lorière E, Tangy F, Komarova AV, Jouvenet N. RIG-I recognizes the 5' region of Dengue and Zika virus genomes. *Cell Rep.* 2018;24(2):320-328. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.047
- 111. Kuno G, Chang G-JJ, Tsuchiya KR, Karabatsos N, Cropp CB. Phylogeny of the genus Flavivirus. *J Virol*. 1998;72(1):73-83. doi:10.1128/JVI.72.1.73-83.1998
- Chambers TJ, Chang SH, Galler R, Rice CM. Flavivirus genome organization, expression, and replication. *Annu Rev Microbiol*. 1990; 36(14):2418-24. doi: 10.1146/annurev.mi.44.100190.003245.
- 113. Thurner C, Witwer C, Hofacker IL, Stadler PF. Conserved RNA secondary structures in Flaviviridae genomes. *J Gen Virol*. 2004;85(5):1113-1124. doi:10.1099/vir.0.19462-0
- 114. Zhang Z, Sun M, Deng J, Yu J, Yang X, Zhao W, Chen G, Wang P. Zika virus induced more severe inflammatory response than dengue virus in chicken embryonic livers. *Front Microbiol.* 2019;10:1127. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.01127
- Kramer LD, Bernard KA, Styer LM. Enhanced early west Nile virus infection in young chickens infected by mosquito bite: effect of viral dose. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2006;75(2):337-345. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.2006.75.337
- 116. Tag-El-Din-Hassan HT, Sasaki N, Moritoh K, Torigoe D, Maeda A, Agui T. The chicken 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase A inhibits the replication of west Nile virus. Published online August 2012. Accessed March 3, 2020. https://doi.org/10.14943/jjvr.60.2-3.95
- 117. Ranoa DRE, Parekh AD, Pitroda SP, Huang X, Darga T, Wong AC, Huang L, Andrade J, Staley JP, Satoh T, Akira S, Weichselbaum RR, Khodarev NN. Cancer therapies activate RIG-I-like receptor pathway through endogenous non-coding RNAs. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(18). doi:10.18632/oncotarget.8420
- 118. Duewell P, Steger A, Lohr H, Bourhis H, Hoelz H, Kirchleitner SV, Stieg MR, Grassmann S, Kobold S, Siveke JT, Endres S, Schnurr M. RIG-I-like helicases induce immunogenic cell death of pancreatic cancer cells and sensitize tumors toward killing by CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ*. 2014;21(12):1825-1837. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.96
- 119. Hou J, Zhou Y, Zheng Y, Fan J, Zhou W, Ng IOL, Sun H, Qin L, Qiu S, Lee JMF, Lo C-M, Man K, Yang Y, Yang Y, Yang Y, Zhang Q, Zhu X, Li N, Wang Z, Ding G, Zhuang S-M, Zheng L, Luo X, Xie Y, Liang A, Wang Z, Zhang M, Xia Q, Liang T, Yu Y, Cao X.

Hepatic RIG-I predicts survival and interferon-α therapeutic response in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Cell*. 2014;25(1):49-63. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2013.11.011

- 120. Chen G, Wang H, Xie S, Ma J, Wang G. STAT1 negatively regulates hepatocellular carcinoma cell proliferation. *Oncol Rep.* 2013;29(6):2303-2310. doi:10.3892/or.2013.2398
- 121. Jiang L-J, Zhang N-N, Ding F, Li X-Y, Chen L, Zhang H-X, Zhang W, Chen S-J, Wang Z-G, Li J-M, Chen Z, Zhu J. RA-inducible gene-I induction augments STAT1 activation to inhibit leukemia cell proliferation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2011;108(5):1897-1902. doi:10.1073/pnas.1019059108
- 122. Liu Z, Dou C, Jia Y, Li Q, Zheng X, Yao Y, Liu Q, Song T. RIG-I suppresses the migration and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by regulating MMP9. *Int J Oncol*. 2015;46(4):1710-1720. doi:10.3892/ijo.2015.2853
- 123. Kawaguchi T, Nomura K. Establishment and characterization of a chicken hepatocellular carcinoma cell line, LMH. *Cancer Res.* 1987;47(16):4460-4464.
- 124. Chen C-J, Yang H-I, Su J, et al. Risk of hepatocellular carcinoma across a biological gradient of serum Hepatitis B virus DNA level. JAMA. 2006;295(1):65-73. doi: 10.1001/jama.295.1.65.
- 125. Beasley RP. Hepatitis B virus. The major etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer*. 1988; 61(10):1942-1956. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19880515)61:10<1942::aid-cncr2820611003>3.0.co;2-j.
- 126. Tian J, Xia K, She R, Li W, Ding Y, Wang J, Chen M, Yin J. Detection of hepatitis B virus in serum and liver of chickens. *Virol J.* 2012;9(1):2. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-9-2
- 127. Sato S, Li K, Kameyama T, Hayashi T, Ishida Y, Murakami S, Watanabe T, Iijima S, Sakurai Y, Watashi K, Tsutsumi S, Sato Y, Akita H, Wakita T, Rice CM, Harashima H, Kohara M, Tanaka Y, Takaoka A. The RNA sensor RIG-I dually functions as an innate sensor and direct antiviral factor for hepatitis B virus. *Immunity*. 2015;42(1):123-132. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.12.016
- 128. Kandasamy M, Suryawanshi A, Tundup S, Perez JT, Schmolke M, Manicassamy S, Manicassamy B. RIG-I Signaling is critical for efficient polyfunctional T cell responses during influenza virus infection. Subbarao K, ed. *PLOS Pathog*. 2016;12(7):e1005754. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005754
- 129. Zhang L, Xia Q, Li W, Peng Q, Yang H, Lu X, Wang G. The RIG-I pathway is involved in peripheral T cell lymphopenia in patients with dermatomyositis. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2019;21(1):131. doi:10.1186/s13075-019-1905-z
- Duewell P, Steger A, Lohr H, Bourhis H, Hoelz H, Kirchleitner SV, Stieg MR, Grassmann S, Kobold S, Siveke JT, Endres S, Schnurr M. RIG-I-like helicases induce immunogenic cell death of pancreatic cancer cells and sensitize tumors toward killing by CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ*. 2014;21(12):1825-1837. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.96

- 131. Weber M, Gawanbacht A, Habjan M, Rang A, Borner C, Schmidt AM, Veitinger S, Jacob R, Devignot S, Kochs G, García-Sastre A, Weber F. Incoming RNA virus nucleocapsids containing a 5'-triphosphorylated genome activate RIG-I and antiviral signaling. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2013;13(3):336-346. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.01.012
- 132. Weber M, Sediri H, Felgenhauer U, Binzen I, Bänfer S, Jacob R, Brunotte L, García-Sastre A, Schmid-Burgk JL, Schmidt T, Hornung V, Kochs G, Schwemmle M, Klenk H-D, Weber F. Influenza virus adaptation PB2-627K modulates nucleocapsid inhibition by the pathogen sensor RIG-I. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2015;17(3):309-319. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2015.01.005
- 133. Kato H, Sato S, Yoneyama M, Yamamoto M, Uematsu S, Matsui K, Tsujimura T, Takeda K, Fujita T, Takeuchi O, Akira S. Cell type-specific involvement of RIG-I in antiviral response. *Immunity*. 2005;23(1):19-28. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.04.010
- 134. Pichlmair A, Schulz O, Tan CP, Naslund TI, Liljestrom P, Weber F, Reis e Sousa C. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. *Science*. 2006;314(5801):997-1001. doi:10.1126/science.1132998
- 135. Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, Richards M, Boyaval P, Moineau S, Romero DA, Horvath P. CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. *Science*. 2007;315(5819):1709-1712. doi:10.1126/science.1138140
- 136. Brouns SJJ, Jore MM, Lundgren M, Westra ER, Slijkhuis RJH, Snijders APL, Dickman MJ, Makarova KS, Koonin EV, van der Oost J. Small CRISPR RNAs guide antiviral defense in prokaryotes. *Science*. 2008;321(5891):960-964. doi:10.1126/science.1159689
- 137. Hsu PD, Lander ES, Zhang F. Development and applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome engineering. *Cell*. 2014;157(6):1262-1278. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.05.010
- Ran FA, Hsu PD, Wright J, Agarwala V, Scott DA, Zhang F. Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Nat Protoc*. 2013;8(11):2281-2308. doi:10.1038/nprot.2013.143
- 139. Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D, Lin S, Barretto R, Habib N, Hsu PD, Wu X, Jiang W, Marraffini LA, Zhang F. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science*. 2013;339(6121):819-823. doi:10.1126/science.1231143
- 140. Feng Z, Mao Y, Xu N, Zhang B, Wei P, Yang D-L, Wang Z, Zhang Z, Zheng R, Yang L, Zeng L, Liu X, Zhu J-K. Multigeneration analysis reveals the inheritance, specificity, and patterns of CRISPR/Cas-induced gene modifications in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2014;111(12):4632-4637. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400822111
- 141. Gratz SJ, Cummings AM, Nguyen JN, Hamm DC, Donohue LK, Harrison MM, Wildonger J, O'Connor-Giles KM. Genome engineering of *drosophila* with the CRISPR RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease. *Genetics*. 2013;194(4):1029-1035. doi:10.1534/genetics.113.152710

- 142. Wu Y, Liang D, Wang Y, Bai M, Tang W, Bao S, Yan Z, Li D, Li J. Correction of a genetic disease in mouse via use of CRISPR-Cas9. *Cell Stem Cell*. 2013;13(6):659-662. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2013.10.016
- 143. Gratz SJ, Ukken FP, Rubinstein CD, Thiede G, Donohue LK, Cummings AM, O'Connor-Giles KM. Highly specific and efficient CRISPR/Cas9-catalyzed homology-directed repair in *Drosophila*. *Genetics*. 2014;196(4):961-971. doi:10.1534/genetics.113.160713
- 144. Wang B, Li K, Wang A, Reiser M, Saunders T, Lockey RF, Wang J-W. Highly efficient CRISPR/HDR-mediated knock-in for mouse embryonic stem cells and zygotes. *BioTechniques*. 2015;59(4). doi:10.2144/000114339
- 145. Sandrini MPB, Piškur J. Deoxyribonucleoside kinases: two enzyme families catalyze the same reaction. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2005;30(5):225-228. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2005.03.003
- 146. Kunos CA, Ferris G, Pyatka N, Pink J, Radivoyevitch T. Deoxynucleoside Salvage facilitates DNA repair during ribonucleotide reductase blockade in human cervical cancers. *Radiat Res.* 2011;176(4):425-433. doi:10.1667/RR2556.1
- 147. Sherley JL, Kelly TJ. Regulation of human thymidine kinase during the cell cycle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1988;263(17):8350-8358.
- 148. Gordon YJ, Gilden DM, Becker Y. HSV-1 Thymidine kinase promotes virulence and latency in the mouse. *Invest. Opthamol. Vis Sci.* 1983;24(5):599-602.149. d4b30ae3cc2e94e03e344628f8f15a44ffeb.pdf. Accessed February 1, 2020. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ec08/d4b30ae3cc2e94e03e344628f8f15a44ffeb.pdf
- Cheng Y-C. A rational approach to the development of antiviral chemotherapy: alternative substrates of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) and type 2 (HSV-2) thymidine kinase (tk). *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1977;284(1 Third Confere):594-598. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1977.tb21992.x
- 151. Cheng YC, Dutschman G, Fox JJ, Watanabe KA, Machida H. Differential activity of potential antiviral nucleoside analogs on herpes simplex virus-induced and human cellular thymidine kinases. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1981;20(3):420-423. doi:10.1128/AAC.20.3.420
- 152. Furman PA, McGuirt PV, Keller PM, Fyfe JA, Elion GB. Inhibition by acyclovir of cell growth and DNA synthesis of cells biochemically transformed with Herpesvirus genetic information. *Virology*. 1980;102(2):420-430. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(80)90109-9
- Smee DF, Martin CJ, Verheyden JP, Matthews TR. Anti-Herpesvirus activity of the acycic nucleoside 9-(1,3-dihydroxy-2-propoxymethyl) guanine. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1983;23(5):676-682. doi: 10.1128/aac.23.5.676.
- 154. Beck C, Cayeux S, Lupton SD, Dörken B, Blankenstein T. The thymidine kinase/ganciclovir-mediated "suicide" effect is variable in different tumor cells. *Hum Gene Ther.* 1995;6(12):1525-1530. doi:10.1089/hum.1995.6.12-1525

- 155. Furman PA, Clair MHS, Fyfe JA, Rideout JL, Elion GB. Inhibition of herpes simplex virus-induced DNA polymerase activity and viral DNA replication by 9-(2-hydroxyethoxymethyl)guanine and its triphosphate. *J VIROL*. 1979;32:6.
- 156. Véron N, Qu Z, Kipen PAS, Hirst CE, Marcelle C. CRISPR mediated somatic cell genome engineering in the chicken. *Dev Biol.* 2015;407(1):68-74. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2015.08.007
- 157. Oishi I, Yoshii K, Miyahara D, Kagami H, Tagami T. Targeted mutagenesis in chicken using CRISPR/Cas9 system. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):23980. doi:10.1038/srep23980
- 158. Bai Y, He L, Li P, Xu K, Shao S, Ren C, Liu Z, Wei Z, Zhang Z. Efficient genome editing in chicken DF-1 cells using the CRISPR/Cas9 System. G3amp58 GenesGenomesGenetics. 2016;6(4):917-923. doi:10.1534/g3.116.027706
- 159. Xie L, Sun J, Mo L, Xu T, Shahzad Q, Chen D, Yang W, Liao Y, Lu Y. HMEJ-mediated efficient site-specific gene integration in chicken cells. *J Biol Eng.* 2019;13(1):90. doi:10.1186/s13036-019-0217-9
- 160. Qin X, Xiao N, Xu Y, Yang F, Wang X, Hu H, Liu Q, Cui K, Tang X. Efficient knock-in at the chicken ovalbumin locus using adenovirus as a CRISPR/Cas9 delivery system. 3 *Biotech.* 2019;9(12):454. doi:10.1007/s13205-019-1966-3
- 161. Shi M, Kawabe Y, Ito A, Kamihira M. Targeted knock-in into the OVA locus of chicken cells using CRISPR/Cas9 system with homology-independent targeted integration. J *Biosci Bioeng.* Published online October 2019:S1389172319306656. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2019.09.011
- 162. Lee HJ, Yoon JW, Jung KM, Kim YM, Park JS, Lee KY, Park KJ, Hwang YS, Park YH, Rengaraj D, Han JY. Targeted gene insertion into Z chromosome of chicken primordial germ cells for avian sexing model development. *FASEB J.* 2019;33(7):8519-8529. doi:10.1096/fj.201802671R
- 163. Dehler CE, Boudinot P, Martin SAM, Collet B. Development of an efficient genome editing method by CRISPR/Cas9 in a fish cell line. *Mar Biotechnol*. 2016;18(4):449-452. doi:10.1007/s10126-016-9708-6
- 164. Essletzbichler P, Konopka T, Santoro F, Chen D, Gapp BV, Kralovics R, Brummelkamp TR, Nijman SMB, Bürckstümmer T. Megabase-scale deletion using CRISPR/Cas9 to generate a fully haploid human cell line. *Genome Res.* 2014;24(12):2059-2065. doi:10.1101/gr.177220.114
- 165. Kimura Y, Oda M, Nakatani T, Sekita Y, Monfort A, Wutz A, Mochizuki H, Nakano T. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated reporter knock-in in mouse haploid embryonic stem cells. *Sci Rep.* 2015;5(1):10710. doi:10.1038/srep10710

- 166. Yang M, Zhang L, Stevens J, Gibson G. CRISPR/Cas9 mediated generation of stable chondrocyte cell lines with targeted gene knockouts; analysis of an aggrecan knockout cell line. *Bone*. 2014;69:118-125. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2014.09.005
- 167. Ahn J, Lee J, Park JY, Oh KB, Hwang S, Lee C-W, Lee K. Targeted genome editing in a quail cell line using a customized CRISPR/Cas9 system. *Poult Sci.* 2017;96(5):1445-1450. doi:10.3382/ps/pew435
- 168. Zuo Q, Wang Y, Cheng S, Lian C, Tang B, Wang F, Lu Z, Ji Y, Zhao R, Zhang W, Jin K, Song J, Zhang Y, Li B. Site-directed genome knockout in chicken cell line and embryos can use CRISPR/Cas gene editing technology. *G3amp58 GenesGenomesGenetics*. 2016;6(6):1787-1792. doi:10.1534/g3.116.028803
- 169. Heckl D, Kowalczyk MS, Yudovich D, Belizaire R, Puram RV, McConkey ME, Thielke A, Aster JC, Regev A, Ebert BL. Generation of mouse models of myeloid malignancy with combinatorial genetic lesions using CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing. *Nat Biotechnol*. 2014;32(9):941-946. doi:10.1038/nbt.2951
- 170. Park A, Won ST, Pentecost M, Bartkowski W, Lee B. CRISPR/Cas9 allows efficient and complete knock-in of a destabilization domain-tagged essential protein in a human cell line, allowing rapid knockdown of protein function. Datta PK, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9(4):e95101. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0095101
- 171. Himly M, Foster DN, Bottoli I, Iacovoni JS, Vogt PK. The DF-1 chicken fibroblast cell line: transformation induced by diverse oncogenes and cell death resulting from infection by avian leukosis viruses. *Virology*. 1998;248(2):295-304. doi:10.1006/viro.1998.9290
- 172. Schaefer-Klein J, Givol I, Barsov EV, Whitcomb JM, VanBrocklin M, Foster DN, Federspiel MJ, Hughes SH. The EV-O-derived cell line DF-1 supports the efficient replication of avian leukosis-sarcoma viruses and vectors. *Virology*. 1998;248(2):305-311. doi:10.1006/viro.1998.9291
- 173. Foster DN, Foster LK, inventors; Regents of the University of Minnesota, assignee. Immortalized cell lines for virus growth. US patent 5,672,485. September 30, 1997.
- 174. Bussière FI, Niepceron A, Sausset A, Esnault E, Silvestre A, Walker RA, Smith NC, Quéré P, Laurent F. Establishment of an in vitro chicken epithelial cell line model to investigate Eimeria tenella gamete development. *Parasit Vectors*. 2018;11(1):44. doi:10.1186/s13071-018-2622-1
- 175. Kim S, Cox CM, Jenkins MC, Fetterer RH, Miska KB, Dalloul RA. Both host and parasite MIF molecules bind to chicken macrophages via CD74 surface receptor. *Dev Comp Immunol.* 2014;47(2):319-326. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2014.07.021
- 176. Gondim LFP, Soares RM, Tavares AS, Borges-Silva W, de Jesus RF, Llano HAB, Gondim LQ. Sarcocystis falcatula-like derived from opossum in Northeastern Brazil: In vitro propagation in avian cells, molecular characterization and bioassay in birds. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl.* 2019;10:132-137. doi:10.1016/j.ijppaw.2019.08.008

- 177. Chakraborty A, Gupta A, Singh AKr, Patni P. Effect of oxidative phytochemicals on nicotine-stressed UMNSAH/DF-1 cell line. J Tradit Complement Med. 2014;4(2):126-131. doi:10.4103/2225-4110.126172
- 178. Kim H, You S, Kong B-W, Foster LK, Farris J, Foster DN. Necrotic cell death by hydrogen peroxide in immortal DF-1 chicken embryo fibroblast cells expressing deregulated MnSOD and catalase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2001; 1540(2):137-146. doi: 10.1016/s0167-4889(01)00131-8.
- 179. Li D, Ye Y, Lin S, Deng L, Fan X, Zhang Y, Deng X, Li Y, Yan H, Ma Y. Evaluation of deoxynivalenol-induced toxic effects on DF-1 cells in vitro: cell-cycle arrest, oxidative stress, and apoptosis. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* 2014;37(1):141-149. doi:10.1016/j.etap.2013.11.015
- 180. Lee SB, Park YH, Chungu K, Woo SJ, Han ST, Choi HJ, Rengaraj D, Han JY. Targeted knockout of MDA5 and TLR3 in the DF-1 chicken fibroblast cell line impairs innate immune response against RNA ligands. *Front Immunol*. 2020;11:678. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00678
- 181. Cheng Y, Lun M, Liu Y, Wang H, Yan Y, Sun J. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated chicken TBK1 gene knockout and its essential role in STING-mediated IFN-β Induction in chicken cells. *Front Immunol.* 2019;9:3010. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.03010
- 182. Liao Z, Dai Z, Cai C, Zhang X, Li A, Zhang H, Yan Y, Lin W, Wu Y, Li H, Li H, Xie Q. Knockout of Atg5 inhibits proliferation and promotes apoptosis of DF-1 cells. *Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.* 2019;55(5):341-348. doi:10.1007/s11626-019-00342-7
- Lee C-W, Jung K, Jadhao SJ, Suarez DL. Evaluation of chicken-origin (DF-1) and quailorigin (QT-6) fibroblast cell lines for replication of avian influenza viruses. *J Virol Methods*. 2008;153(1):22-28. doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2008.06.019
- 184. Koslová A, Trefil P, Mucksová J, Reinišová M, Plachý J, Kalina J, Kučerová D, Geryk J, Krchlíková V, Lejčková B, Hejnar J. Precise CRISPR/Cas9 editing of the NHE1 gene renders chickens resistant to the J subgroup of avian leukosis virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2020;117(4):2108-2112. doi:10.1073/pnas.1913827117
- 185. Kim S-J, Habib O, Kim J-S, Han H-W, Koo SK, Kim J-H. A homozygous Keap1knockout human embryonic stem cell line generated using CRISPR/Cas9 mediates gene targeting. *Stem Cell Res.* 2017;19:52-54. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2016.12.028
- 186. Xie L, Huang J, Li X, Dai L, Lin X, Zhang J, Luo J, Zhang W. Generation of a homozygous HDAC6 knockout human embryonic stem cell line by CRISPR/Cas9 editing. *Stem Cell Res.* 2019;41:101610. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2019.101610
- 187. Seo H-H, Han H-W, Kim J-H. Generation of a TLR7 heterozygous knockout line (WAe009-A-18) from human embryonic stem cells using CRISPR/Cas9. Stem Cell Res. 2020;45:101735. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2020.101735

- 188. Idoko-Akoh A, Taylor L, Sang HM, McGrew MJ. High fidelity CRISPR/Cas9 increases precise monoallelic and biallelic editing events in primordial germ cells. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):15126. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-33244-x
- 189. Kim G, Lee JH, Song S, Kim SW, Han JS, Shin SP, Park B, Park TS. Generation of myostatin-knockout chickens mediated by D10A-Cas9 nickase. *FASEB J*. 2020;34(4):5688-5696. doi:10.1096/fj.201903035R
- 190. Antonova E, Glazova O, Gapanova A, Ereyman A, Zvereva S, Grebenkina N, Volkova N, Volchkov P. Successful CRISPR/Cas9 mediated homologous recombination in a chicken cell line. *F1000 Res.* 2018;7:238. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.13457.2
- 191. Shi M, Kawabe Y, Ito A, Kamihira M. Targeted knock-in into the OVA locus of chicken cells using CRISPR/Cas9 system with homology-independent targeted integration. J *Biosci Bioeng.* 2020;129(3):363-370. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2019.09.011
- 192. Horton RM, Hunt HD, Ho SN, Pullen JK, Pease LR. Engineering hybrid genes without the use of restriction enzymes: gene splicing by overlap extension. *Gene*. 1989;77(1):61-68. doi:10.1016/0378-1119(89)90359-4
- 193. Magor KE, Miranzo Navarro D, Barber MRW, Petkau K, Fleming-Canepa X, Blyth GAD, Blaine AH. Defense genes missing from the flight division. *Dev Comp Immunol*. 2013;41(3):377-388. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2013.04.010
- 194. Kornberg HL, Krebs HA. Synthesis of Cell Constituents from C2-Units by a Modified Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle. *Nature*. 1957;179(4568):988-991. doi:10.1038/179988a0
- 195. Saffran M, Prado JL. Inhibition of aconitase by trans-aconitate. *J Biol Chem.* 1949;180(3):1301-1309.
- 196. Hasty P, Rivera-Pérez J, Bradley A. The length of homology required for gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Mol Cell Biol*. 1991;11(11):5586-5591. doi:10.1128/MCB.11.11.5586
- 197. Fang Z, Zhang Y, Cai M, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Zhou X. Improved gene targeting frequency in marine-derived filamentous fungus Aspergillus glaucus by disrupting ligD. *J Appl Genet*. 2012;53(3):355-362. doi:10.1007/s13353-012-0095-z
- Song F, Stieger K. Optimizing the DNA donor template for homology-directed repair of double-strand breaks. *Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids*. 2017;7:53-60. doi:10.1016/j.omtn.2017.02.006
- 199. Sharma A, Toepfer CN, Ward T, Wasson L, Agarwal R, Conner DA, Hu JH, Seidman CE. CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated fluorescent tagging of endogenous proteins in human pluripotent stem cells: CRISPR/Cas9-mediated fluorescent tagging of proteins in pluripotent stem cells. *Curr Protoc Hum Genet*. 2018;96(1):21.11.1-21.11.20. doi:10.1002/cphg.52

- 200. Zuo Q, Wang Y, Cheng S, Lian C, Tang B, Wang F, Lu Z, Ji Y, Zhao R, Zhang W, Jin K, Song J, Zhang Y, Li B. Site-directed genome knockout in chicken cell line and embryos can use CRISPR/Cas gene editing technology. *G3amp58 GenesGenomesGenetics*. 2016;6(6):1787-1792. doi:10.1534/g3.116.028803
- 201. Wise TG, Schafer DJ, Lambeth LS, Tyack SG, Bruce MP, Moore RJ, Doran TJ. Characterization and comparison of chicken U6 promoters for the expression of short hairpin RNAs. *Anim Biotechnol.* 2007;18(3):153-162. doi:10.1080/10495390600867515
- 202. Kenigsberg S, Lima PDA, Maghen L, Wyse BA, Lackan C, Cheung ANY, Tsang BK, Librach CL. The elusive MAESTRO gene: its human reproductive tissue-specific expression pattern. Asselin E, ed. *PLOS ONE*. 2017;12(4):e0174873. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0174873
- 203. Ijiri TW, Kondoh G, Horie K, Takeda J, Matsuda Y. The MROH4 (maestro heat-like repeat family member 4) gene affects spermatogenesis and sperm morphogenesis in mice. *Proc Instit Interdisc Sci.* 2019;5(1):41-56.
- 204. Viguera E, Canceill D, Ehrlich SD. In vitro replication slippage by DNA polymerases from thermophilic organisms. *J Mol Biol*. 2001;312(2):323-333. doi:10.1006/jmbi.2001.4943
- 205. Ser PL, Jennings GS, Strauss M, Sandig V. Reactivation of the previously silenced cytomegalovirus major immediate-early promoter in the mouse liver: involvement of NFκB. *J Virol*. 1998;72:11.
- 206. Prosch S, Stein J, Liebenthal C, Volk H-D. Inactivation of the very strong HCMV immediate early promoter by DMA CpG methylation in vitro. *Bio Chem Hoppe Seyler*. 1996;377(3):195-201. doi: 10.1515/bchm3.1996.377.3.195.
- 207. Brooks AR, Harkins RN, Wang P, Qian HS, Liu P, Rubanyi GM. Transcriptional silencing is associated with extensive methylation of the CMV promoter following adenoviral gene delivery to muscle. J Gene Med. 2004;6(4):395-404. doi:10.1002/jgm.516
- 208. Ghazal P, Messerle M, Osborn K, Angulo A. An essential role of the enhancer for murine cytomegalovirus in vivo growth and pathogenesis. *J Virol*. 2003;77(5):3217-3228. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.5.3217-3228.2003
- 209. Stinski MF, Isomura H. Role of the cytomegalovirus major immediate early enhancer in acute infection and reactivation from latency. *Med Microbiol Immunol (Berl)*. 2008;197(2):223-231. doi:10.1007/s00430-007-0069-7
- Sabl JF, Henikoff S. Copy number and orientation determine the susceptibility of a gene to silencing by nearby heterochromatin in Drosophila. *Trends Genet*. 1996;12(6):210. doi:10.1016/0168-9525(96)81442-9
- 211. Garrick D, Fiering S, Martin DIK, Whitelaw E. Repeat-induced gene silencing in mammals. *Nat Genet*. 1998;18(1):56-59. doi:10.1038/ng0198-56
- 212. Assaad FF, Tucker KL, Signer ER. Epigenetic repeat-induced gene silencing (RIGS) inArabidopsis. *Plant Mol Biol.* 1993;22(6):1067-1085. doi:10.1007/BF00028978
- 213. Green MR. Pre-mRNA Splicing. *Annu Rev Genet.* 1986; 20:671-708.doi: 10.1146/annurev.ge.20.120186.003323.
- Brinster RL, Allen JM, Behringer RR, Gelinas RE, Palmiter RD. Introns increase transcriptional efficiency in transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1988;85(3):836-840. doi:10.1073/pnas.85.3.836
- 215. Choi T, Huang M, Gorman C, Jaenisch R. A generic intron increases gene expression in transgenic mice. *Mol Cell Biol*. 1991;11(6):3070-3074. doi:10.1128/MCB.11.6.3070
- 216. Tanaka A, Mita S, Ohta S, Kyozuka J, Shimamoto K, Nakamura K. Enhancement of foreign gene expression by a dicot intron in rice but not in tobacco is correlated with an increased level of mRNA and an efficient splicing of the intron. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1990;18(23):6767-6770. doi:10.1093/nar/18.23.6767
- Koziel MG, Carozzi NB, Desai N. Optimizing expression of transgenes with an emphasis on post-transcriptional events. *Plant Mol Biol.* 1996;32(1-2):393-405. doi:10.1007/BF00039392
- 218. Duncker BP, Davies PL, Walker VK. Introns boost transgene expression in Drosophila melanogaster. *Mol Gen Genet MGG*. 1997;254(3):291-296. doi:10.1007/s004380050418
- 219. Brodsky AS, Silver PA. Pre-mRNA processing factors are required for nuclear export. *RNA*. 2000;6(12):1737-1749. doi:10.1017/S1355838200001059
- 220. Casolari JM, Silver PA. Guardian at the gate: preventing unspliced pre-mRNA export. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2004;14(5):222-225. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2004.03.007
- 221. Saldi T, Cortazar MA, Sheridan RM, Bentley DL. Coupling of RNA Polymerase II Transcription Elongation with Pre-mRNA Splicing. *J Mol Biol.* 2016;428(12):2623-2635. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2016.04.017
- 222. Luo M -j., Reed R. Splicing is required for rapid and efficient mRNA export in metazoans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1999;96(26):14937-14942. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.26.14937
- 223. LaManna CM, Barrangou R. Enabling the rise of a CRISPR world. *CRISPR J*. 2018;1(3):205-208. doi:10.1089/crispr.2018.0022
- 224. van Erp PB, Bloomer G, Wilkinson R, Wiedenheft B. The history and market impact of CRISPR RNA-guided nucleases. *Curr Opin Virol*. 2015;12:85-90. doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2015.03.011
- 225. Pang Q, Gao L, Hu W, An Y, Deng H, Zhang Y, Sun X, Zhu G, Liu B, Zhao B. De Novo transcriptome analysis provides insights into immune related genes and the RIG-I-Like

receptor signaling pathway in the freshwater planarian (Dugesia japonica). *PLoS ONE*. 2016;11(3):e0151597. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0151597.

- 226. Huang B, Zhang L, Du Y, Xu F, Li L, Zhang G. Characterization of the mollusc RIG-I/MAVS pathway reveals an archaic antiviral signalling framework in invertebrates. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1). doi:10.1038/s41598-017-08566-x.
- 227. Chen S, Zou P, Nie P. Retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs) in fish: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Immunology*. 2017;151(1):16-25. doi:10.1111/imm.12714.
- 228. Xu L, Yu D, Fan Y, Peng L, Wu Y, Yao Y. Loss of RIG-I leads to a functional replacement with MDA5 in the Chinese tree shrew. *Proc Natl Acad of Sci.* 2016;113(39):10950-10955. doi:10.1073/pnas.1604939113.
- 229. van Tuinen M, Hedges S. Calibration of avian molecular clocks. *Mol Biol Evol*. 2001;18(2):206-213. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a003794.
- 230. Wang M, Thakur M, Peng M, Jiang Y, Frantz L, Li M, Zhang J, Wang S, Peters J, Otecko N, Suwannapoom C, Guo X, Zheng Z, Esmailizadeh A, Hirimuthugoda N, Ashari H, Suladari S, Zein M, Kusza S, Sohrabi S, Kharrati-Koopaee H, Shen Q, Zeng L, Yang M, Wu Y, Yang X, Lu X, Jia X, Nie Q, Lamont S, Lasagna E, Ceccobelli S, Gunwardana H, Senasige T, Feng S, Si J, Zhang H, Jin J, Li M, Liu Y, Chen H, Ma C, Dai S, Bhuiyan A, Khan M, Silva G, Le T, Mwai O, Ibrahim M, Supple M, Shapiro B, Hanotte O, Zhang G, Larson G, Han J, Wu D, Zhang Y. 863 genomes reveal the origin and domestication of chicken. *Cell Res.* 2020;25:1-9 doi:10.1038/s41422-020-0349-y.
- Kommers G, King D, Seal B, Carmichael K, Brown C. Pathogenesis of six pigeon-origin isolates of Newcastle disease virus for domestic chickens. *Vet Pathol.* 2002;39(3):353-362. doi:10.1354/vp.39-3-353.
- 232. Cavanagh D. Coronavirus avian infectious bronchitis virus. *Vet Res.* 2007;38(2):281-297. doi:10.1051/vetres:2006055.
- 233. Casais R, Thiel V, Siddell S, Cavanagh D, Britton P. Reverse genetics system for the avian coronavirus infectious bronchitis virus. *J Virol.* 2001;75(24):12359-12369. doi:10.1128/jvi.75.24.12359-12369.2001.
- 234. Devaney R, Trudgett J, Trudgett A, Meharg C, Smyth V. A metagenomic comparison of endemic viruses from broiler chickens with runting-stunting syndrome and from normal birds. *Avian Pathol.* 2016;45(6):616-629. doi:10.1080/03079457.2016.1193123.
- 235. Taubenberger J, Morens D. The pathology of influenza virus infections. *Annu Rev Pathol.* 2008;3(1):499-522. doi:10.1146/annurev.pathmechdis.3.121806.154316.
- 236. Suarez D. Schultz-Cherry S. Immunology of avian influenza virus: a review. *Dev comp immunol*. 2000;24(2-3):269-283. doi:10.1016/s0145-305x(99)00078-6.

- 237. Adamson I Y, Hedgecock C, Bowden D H. Epithelial cell-fibroblast interaction in lung injury and repair. *Am J Pathol.* 1990;137(2):385-92.
- 238. Ellegren H. Molecular evolutionary genomics of birds. *Cytogenet Genome Res*. 2007;117(1-4):120-130. doi:10.1159/000103172.
- 239. Epplen J, Leipoldt M, Engel W, Schmidtke J. DNA sequence organisation in avian genomes. *Chromosoma*. 1978;69(3):307-321. doi:10.1007/bf00332134.
- 240. Volker M, Backstrom N, Skinner B, Langley E, Bunzey S, Ellegren H, Griffin D. Copy number variation, chromosome rearrangement, and their association with recombination during avian evolution. *Genome Res.* 2010;20(4):503-511. doi:10.1101/gr.103663.109.
- 241. Skinner B, Griffin D. Intrachromosomal rearrangements in avian genome evolution: evidence for regions prone to breakpoints. *Heredity (Edinb)*. 2012;108(1):37-41. doi:10.1038/hdy.2011.99.
- 242. Skinner B, Robertson L, Tempest H, Langley E, Ioannou D, Fowler K, Crooijmans R, Hall A, Griffin D, Völker M. Comparative genomics in chicken and Pekin duck using FISH mapping and microarray analysis. *BMC Genomics*. 2009;10(1):357. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-10-357.
- 243. Li Y, Tollefsbol T. DNA methylation detection: bisulfite genomic sequencing analysis. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2011;11-21. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-316-5\_2.
- 244. Pikaart M, Recillas-Targa F, Felsenfeld G. Loss of transcriptional activity of a transgene is accompanied by DNA methylation and histone deacetylation and is prevented by insulators. *Genes Dev.* 1998;12(18):2852-2862. doi:10.1101/gad.12.18.2852.
- 245. Landry J, Pyl P, Rausch T, Zichner T, Tekkedil M, Stütz A, Jauch A, Aiyar R, Pau G, Delhomme N, Gagneur J, Korbel J, Huber W, Steinmetz L. The genomic and transcriptomic landscape of a HeLa cell line. *G3 Genes Genom Genet*. 2013;3(8):1213-1224. doi:10.1534/g3.113.005777.